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The Trustees, who are also directors for the purpose of the Companies Act, present their annual report 
(incorporating the Charity’s strategic report) and financial statements of YMCA St Paul’s Group (the 
‘Charity’ / ‘YMCA SPG’ / ‘YSPG’) for the year ended 31 March 2024.  
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STRATEGIC  
REPORT 

 
 

 
MCA St Paul’s Group is 
a large and local YMCA 
working across London 

and surrounding areas.  
 
As part of the wider YMCA 
Federation in England and 
Wales, we pride ourselves on 
responding to needs in each 
locality where we are based 
whilst also drawing on the 

resources that are available to 
a larger charity. 
 
With over 150 years of work 
across London, our work is built 
on the legacy of those who 
have been part of our YMCA’s 
journey in years gone by, an 
underlying Christian ethos and  
a hope for a better future.  
 

Structure 
 

The Charity is a company 
limited by guarantee and 
incorporated in England & 
Wales (number: 02971930), a 
registered provider of social 
housing (number: LH4078) and 
a registered charity (number: 
1041923). It is governed by its 
Trustee Board.

  
 
Charitable Objectives 
 

The Charity’s charitable objectives are for the public benefit. They are: 
 

(i) to advance the Christian faith, including by: 
a. promoting a Christian environment inspired and motivated by the life, example and 

teaching of Jesus Christ, where people of faith and people of none can work together 
for the transformation of communities; and  

b. enabling people of all ages and, in particular, young people, to flourish through 
experiencing and responding to the love of God demonstrated by the life, example and 
teaching of Jesus Christ.  

(ii) to provide or assist in the provision of social welfare facilities for recreation and other 
leisure time occupation for men and women with the object of improving their conditions of 
life;  

(iii) to provide or assist in the provision of education for people of all ages and in particular 
young people, with the object of developing their physical, mental or spiritual capacities;  

(iv) to relieve or assist in the relief of people of all ages and, in particular, young people, who 
are in conditions of need, hardship or distress by reason of their social, physical, 
emotional, spiritual or economic circumstances; and  

(v) to provide residential accommodation, including Social Housing, for people of all ages 
and, in particular, young people, who are in need, hardship or distress by reason of their 
social, physical, emotional, spiritual or economic circumstances. 

Y 
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Vision and Mission 
 

Across London and beyond, 
YMCA St Paul’s Group: 
 

• Empowers young people by 
providing the resources and 
support so they can thrive. 
 

• Creates inclusive, active and 
healthy communities where 
everyone can flourish. 

 
With an approach informed by 
our Christian faith basis we 
work with fellow community 
collaborators to see this vision 
realised.  
 
To meet our vision:  
 

• Our Housing, Care & 
Support team provides those 
in need of a place to call 
home a roof over their head 
and supports them with 
services that empower them 
to build a positive future. 
 

• Our Children, Youth and 
Families team works with 
children and young people 
to help them be safe, happy, 
connected and confident 
people who can go on to 
contribute and achieve in 
their communities. 

 

• Our Health and Wellbeing 
team brings people together 
by encouraging them to be 
healthy physically and 
mentally. 

 
To support the delivery of the 
vision: 
 

• Our People, Culture and 
Chaplaincy team enable the 
organisation to respond to 
the future with an equipped, 
empowered workforce that is 
flexible and agile, and which 
is built on a Christian ethos. 
 

• Our Finance, ICT and 
Business Improvement 

teams ensure we are a 
financially sustainable, 
effective and efficient 
organisation that has the 
resources to grow. 

 

• Our Property and Places 
team empowers our 
customers, staff and service 
users by providing them with 
an excellent service and 
welcoming properties where 
they can thrive. 

 

• Our Communications, 
Fundraising and Marketing 
team help raise awareness, 
engagement and voluntary 
income for the work we do. 

 
Strategic Plan 2024-27 
 

The new Strategic Plan is 
focused on investing in our 
future; that means our 
foundations, our customers and 
our future growth, as outlined in 
more detail below:
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Section 172 Statement - 
Promoting the success of the 
Charity  
 

The Trustees are committed to 
promoting the success of the 
Charity as required by Section 
172 of the Companies Act 2006 
and have: 
 

▪ engaged with employees, 
suppliers, customers and 
others; and 
 

▪ had regard to employee 
interests, the need to foster 
our relationships with 
suppliers, service users and 
others when taking into 
account principal decisions 
and the effect that they have. 

 
This Section 172 statement 
focuses on matters of strategic 
importance and the information 
disclosed is consistent with the 
size of our organisation. 
Governance processes have 
been deployed in good faith so 
that decisions taken are those 
that would most likely promote 
our success for the public 
benefit and having regard to: 
 
▪ the likely consequences of 

any decision in the long term;  
 

▪ the interests of employees; 
 

▪ the need to foster good 
relationships with service 
users, commissioners, 
customers and suppliers; 

 

▪ the impact upon the 
community and environment; 

  

▪ the desirability for us to 
maintain a reputation for high 
standards of conduct; and 

 

▪ the need to act fairly. 
 
The Trustee report and the 
section on achievements and 
performance, sets out how we 
are delivering on our objects, 
vision and mission by: 
 
• delivering services and 

supporting service users in 

the pursuit of short, 
medium and long term 
goals; 
 

• engaging with employees 
to develop organisational 
effectiveness and be a 
great place to work; 

 

• listening and working with 
service users and 
customers to ensure that 
activities meet the needs 
of individuals; 

 

• working closely with 
commissioners to provide 
effective and efficient 
services that deliver public 
benefit and positive 
outcomes for the people 
that are served; 

 

• liaising with suppliers to 
secure value for money; 

 

• measuring the impact of 
activities through nationally 
accredited metrics so that 
social value can be 
established; 

 

• promoting environmental 
efficiency particularly in 
relation to energy use; and 

 

• striving for good 
governance and regulatory 
verification in how the 
organisation is run. 

 
As a Christian charity, we are 
committed to fairness and 
equality and are committed to 
the long-term prospects of our 
work. 
 
Key Decisions 
 
Key decisions taken by the 
Board during the financial year 
include the following: 
 

▪ Successfully operating as a 
merged YMCA following the 
Corporate Transfer of West 
London YMCA into the 
parent charity; 
 

▪ Completing the Wimbledon 
hostel development, which 
delivered 121 units of new 

residential accommodation 
and new community 
facilities; 

 

▪ Approving a new 2024/27 
Strategic Plan; 

 
▪ Living out the Customer 

Engagement, Involvement & 
Empowerment Charter as 
well as strategies on 
Governance, People, ICT & 
Digital and Service Delivery.  
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Employees 
 

We place great value on our 
staff and aim to create a culture 
where everyone feels that they 
can bring their best selves to 
work. This means creating an 
atmosphere of trust and 
inclusion that is free from 
harassment and abuse.  
 
We recognise the importance of 
creating an inclusive 
environment which benefits 
everyone equally. We place 
high value on the quality and 
diversity of our employees and 
work hard to ensure all are 
working together to shape a 
charity that serves the best 
interests of our service users.  
 
To this end the Board has 
approved a People Strategy 
which is monitored through the 
People & Governance 
Committee. Internally, the 
Executive Team share 
information on its objectives, 
progress and activities through 
regular management and 
departmental staff meetings. In 
addition, staff forums, 
conferences, and events such 
as Flourish Fest and team days 
are used to celebrate and 
recognise employees’ 
contributions, generate ideas 
and positively engage with 
staff. 
 
To demonstrate our progress in 
creating an inclusive workplace, 
we publish a Gender Pay Gap 
report each year.   
 
In April 2024 this showed a 
mean pay gap with women paid 
11.75% more than men and a 
median pay gap in favour of 
women of 2.2%.  
 
Whilst this compares favourably 
to many other sectors, we 
continue to be aware that 
women continue to be 
disproportionately represented 

in the lower pay roles. Work will 
continue to address this by 
creating opportunities for 
progression and the promotion 
of flexible working practices 
across all parts of the 
organisation. 
  
As well as the gender pay gap, 
during the year we published 
our first ethnicity pay gap 
report. The report shows  
that we benchmark well against 
our peers - for every £1 earned 
by a white employee a 
colleague from the ethnic 
minority group earns 93 pence.  
 
The detailed review shows that 
whilst in our upper and lower 
quartiles we can demonstrate 
equity, the lower and upper 
middle quartiles show we have 
work to do to ensure equity 
across all pay bands.   
 
Health & safety 
 

The Trustees are aware of their 
responsibilities on all matters 
relating to health and safety. 
Alongside a detailed health and 
safety policy and 
accompanying training, the 
Board monitors compliance 
through detailed quarterly 
reporting, that is first reviewed 
by the Development and Assets 
Committee and then presented 
to the Board. The Board also 
receive an annual report on 
Health and Safety performance 
that brings together the full 12 
months’ performance.  
 
As is noted below, health and 
safety reporting was reviewed 
and revised during the year to 
increase Board members’ 
visibility on matters relating to 
Landlord Health & Safety. 
 
Safeguarding 
 

Much of our work is with young 

and vulnerable people and as 

such it places a priority on 

robust safeguarding procedures 

and reporting. Each person 

who works for us is assigned a 

safeguarding training pathway 

to complete, based on their role 

and direct involvement with 

vulnerable customers.  

 

A safeguarding panel exists to 

review training performance as 

well as to monitor compliance 

with DBS checks and renewals. 

The Board has a designated 

Safeguarding Champion who, 

along with an independent 

expert, meets with the Chief 

Executive and the Executive 

lead for Safeguarding to review 

performance quarterly, 

escalating key matters to the 

Performance Committee and 

Board. Finally, as part of its 

annual performance reporting 

cycle, the Board receives an 

annual safeguarding report.  

 

Sadly, during the year, we 

experienced four serious 

safeguarding related incidents, 

which were reported to the 

Charity Commission with no 

further actions required. 

Internal reviews identified areas 

of learning and service 

improvement; these were 

reviewed and supported by the 

Safeguarding Champion review 

meeting. 

 
Information security 
 

We are committed to 
information security and 
continue to promote good and 
appropriate collection and use 
of data and information. We 
continue to retain a dedicated 
Data Protection Officer to aid 
compliance, assurance and 
advisory work in this area. 
During the year, we maintained 
Cyber Essentials accreditation 
and continue to work to achieve 
further accreditation and 
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assurance positions. 
 
Compliance with taxation 
 

We are committed to 
conducting business with 
integrity, transparency and 
fairness, and in compliance 
with all relevant rules, 
regulations and legislation. We 
value our reputation for ethical 
behaviour and financial probity.  
 
We will not knowingly engage 
with any individual or business 
that does not share our 
commitment to the prevention 
of tax evasion. We require all 

trustees and staff to  
demonstrate the highest 
standards of honesty at all 
times.  
 
Indemnity insurance 
 

Our insurance policies 
indemnify the Trustees and 
Officers against liability when 
acting for the Charity, providing 
their actions are not reckless or 
fraudulent. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Benefit 
 

The Board holds service users 
at the heart of its approach to 
formulating the strategic 
objectives and associated 
strategies. In doing so, the 
Trustees confirm that they have 
given due regard to the public 
benefit guidance published by 
the Charity Commission in 
determining the activities 
undertaken by the Charity. 
Through the work that we 
undertake in our service areas, 
we deliver public benefit and 
serve a wide range of people, 
many of whom are vulnerable.
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND 
PERFORMANCE 

 
 

 
023-4 was the year that 
we sought to put the 
external challenges of the 

last few years behind us, 
looking to establish a strong 
foundation and platform for 
future development.  
 
It was a year with a few key 
milestone moments but, more 
importantly, improvement in 
performance and a reduction in 
management challenges.  
 
This focus on consistent 
performance meant that over 
the year we saw an 
improvement in void levels, a 
reduction in staff vacancy 
numbers, and a reduction in 
current rental arrears. This, 
combined with tight cost 
control, ensured that we 
finished the year slightly ahead 
of our operating surplus budget 
and with a stronger foundation 
to look forward to the years 
ahead. 
 
These corporate level 
improvements were made 
possible by enhancements in 
financial reporting, including 
monthly forecasting and the 
introduction of a contribution 
analysis methodology. This 
contribution analysis, split over 
four levels, allowed us to review 
all activities and identify at what 
level they were providing a 
financial return.  
 
One of the milestone moments 
within the year was the 
completion of the new YMCA in 
Wimbledon. This is a project 

that has been over 15 years in 
the making. It was therefore a 
great delight to welcome a wide 
range of past and present 
friends and supporters of the 
YMCA to the official opening in 
October 2023. The new YMCA 
Wimbledon, developed in 
partnership with Thornsett 
Group and built by the 
construction company Neilcott, 
provides 121 places to live for 
young and vulnerable people, 
alongside a range of 
community spaces. Much to the 
delight of the local team, one of 
the new community spaces was 
quickly booked by the Strictly 
Come Dancing team for dance 
rehearsals in advance of the 
live show.  
 
Alongside the development of 
YMCA Wimbledon, the roll out 
of the Psychologically Informed 
Environment (PIE) gathered 
pace within the year. Across 
the 5 PIE pillars that have been 
adopted, we continued to 
develop our physical spaces to 
be more conducive for support. 
Compassionate Mind Therapy 
training was rolled out, first to 
the Housing and Youth Work 
teams and then latterly across 
the wider organisation. 
Reflective practice sessions 
were introduced for the different 
teams and a monitoring and 
evaluation framework was 
introduced.  
 
Over the course of the year, we 
focused on the development of 
our new Strategic Plan. The 
final plan, which was approved 

in April 2024, set out our focus 
on Investing in our Future 
through Investing in 
Foundations, Customers and 
growth. In a departure from the 
2021-24 plan, the new Strategy 
sets out 15 different objectives 
and accompanying success 
measures that will demonstrate 
that we have achieved the aims 
of the Plan. 
 
At the start of the year, the 
Regulator of Social Housing 
carried out our second In Depth 
Assessment (IDA). The IDA 
process included the 
submission of a suite of 
documents, a series of 
interviews with Executive and 
key Board members and a 
Board meeting observation.  
 
At the end of the process, we 
were informed that whilst we 
retained a compliant grade, it 
was being changed from a G1 
to G2. The change was linked 
to:  
 

• Strengthening stress testing, 
risk mitigation and 
assurance arrangements to 
safeguard against covenant 
headroom risks; 
 

• Delivering higher assurance 
levels on landlord health & 
safety; and 

 

• Refocusing the strategic 
objectives so they are 
prioritised with clear 
outcomes. 

 
 
 

2 
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We have responded positively 
to this and worked with the 
Regulator as there is a joint 
desire for the organisation to 
return to G1. 
 
We envisage that our G2 rating 
will be reassessed during Q2 & 

Q3 of 2024/25. The results of 
this review are likely to be 
announced in the autumn of 
2024. 
 
Given that we provide 
accommodation for under 18s, 
during the year, in response to 

new regulatory requirements, 
we registered to become a 
registered provider of 
accommodation for 16- & 17-
year-olds. The application was 
accepted and is currently being 
assessed in accordance with 
the new requirements. 

 
 
 
HOUSING, CARE & SUPPORT  
 
Between April 2023 and March 
2024, we housed 1,560 
residents across our 37 
housing sites. Of these 1,560 
residents, 512 Moved-On 
during this period, with 297 
positive Move-On outcomes. 
The table below shows the 
destination of positive Move-
Ons. 

We successfully transitioned 
our two care homes to 
supported living as of April 
2023 and continued to deliver a 
wide range of supported 
accommodation, including 
dedicated accommodation for 
mothers and their babies, 
complex needs support for ex 
rough-sleepers and 16/17 

accommodation. For the latter 
we submitted our application 
with OFSTED to become a 
registered provider of 16/17 
year-old care leaver 
accommodation. 
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The following case studies highlight and bring to life the impact that the work of the housing team has 
on the residents we support: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Resident X came to the YMCA after being made street homeless following his 
release from prison.  Resident X had a long history of assaults, ASB behaviour 
and there was, at the time of coming to us, a warrant issued for his arrest 
following continual harassment and abuse towards his mother. On arrival he 
had no access to funds, was going through alcohol withdrawals, mental health 
issues, and a safeguarding had to be raised within hours of him presenting to 
us due to the serious threats made to the public.  
 
With the multi-agency support of the local drug and alcohol support service 
CGL, the council and Rough Sleepers Mental Health teams, we were able to 
build a positive relationship with a basic level of trust, giving us time to work 
with him to prevent him repeating past behaviours.  
 
Due to him being street homeless, Resident X had missed his court date and 
was left with only one option – to surrender himself to the police with regards 
to the warrant on him.  We supported him to do this, which was not easy as he 
did not want to return to prison. We wrote a supporting letter addressing how 
he was now less of a risk due to being in stable accommodation and receiving 
the support he needed.  On presentation at the police station, he was arrested 
due to the warrant, but re-released due to the support he was now getting.  He 
is currently on probation. 
 
We continue to support Resident X to attend his medical appointments, engage 
with mental health services and are also helping him to rebuild his 
relationships with his family to help him have a supportive network once he 
moves on. Initially, his immediate move on plan would have been to further 
supported accommodation with a care aspect. On review we are now 
supporting him to move to independent accommodation now that he is 
managing his finances, health and offending behaviour.  
 
The YMCA project where Resident X lives is set up to provide intense support 
to the most complex clients, which is essential in supporting them to move on 
to their own independent accommodation, whilst often still receiving support 
for a multitude of needs. 
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Progression Team Activities 
 
The Progression Team serves 
as a dedicated and dynamic 
group within our organisation, 
committed to supporting the 
holistic development and 
empowerment of the residents 
we serve. Comprised of 

passionate Progression 
Coaches with a diverse range 
of expertise, the Progression 
Team plays a pivotal role in 
driving positive change and 
fostering growth within our 
community. They run 
timetabled sessions across all 
our housing schemes, with an 

approach guided by a 
framework of compassion, 
integrity, and empowerment. 
They support residents, 
recognising the unique 
strengths and challenges of 
each individual, and work 
tirelessly to tailor their support 
and services.  

Resident Y is a young woman who arrived at the YMCA eight months 
pregnant, suffering from depression and anxiety. She had minimal support 
from her family and the father of her child. Her mother had passed away when 
she was very young, and her father was always busy working, leaving her to 
step up as the older sibling, taking care of her sister. As a young girl, she 
endured significant trauma and abuse, resulting in a deep mistrust of people 
and a lack of support for her emotional wounds. 
 
The staff at the YMCA provided extensive support to Resident Y, offering not 
only emotional support but also practical assistance. The staff showed her 
that she was not alone, giving her hope and encouragement. 
 
Through the support from the YMCA staff, Resident Y developed her 
independent living skills, cooking skills and budgeting abilities to help her 
manage her tenancy. Along with these essential life skills, the staff also 
provided significant emotional and mental health support for her as a young 
single mother. She knew she had staff to guide her, offer advice, and help her 
juggle the responsibilities of managing her tenancy and caring for her baby. 
 
Over time, Resident Y grew more confident at budgeting, paying her rent on 
time, and managing a small income with a young child. With the help of YMCA 
staff, she sought counselling to address her trauma and depression, 
eventually feeling ready to return to part-time work as her child attended 
nursery. The staff and progression coach supported her in creating a CV, 
applying for jobs, and developing interview skills. They also referred her to a 
charity that helped with clothes and shoes for her interviews. Resident Y 
attended interviews and found joy and confidence in the prospect of returning 
to work. 
 
Resident Y was eventually offered a flat through the council, indicating her 
readiness for independent living. She successfully moved out and created a 
comfortable home for herself and her child. The progression team supported 
her in obtaining funds by applying for grants to help with the costs. Resident 
Y demonstrated excellent budgeting skills, using her savings and grant 
money to furnish her home. 
 
Now settled into her new home, Resident Y is actively looking for a part-time 

job. The support she received from the YMCA staff played a crucial role in her 

journey towards independence, helping her overcome significant challenges 

and build a stable, hopeful future for herself and her child. 
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This year the team has worked 
with 652 different people 
through over 800 sessions, 
including support with 
employment skills, 
volunteering, budgeting, move-
on, driving theory practice, 
health and wellbeing, 
involvement & empowerment 
as well as a range of projects 
including art & craft, drama, 
gardening & music.  
 
We have run events and 
activities, including: Black 
History Month, Christmas and 
Mental Health Awareness 
Week, seeing us bringing 
together multiple sites to learn, 
collaborate and achieve.   
 
The Progression Team created 
site-focused wellbeing cafes at 
Surbiton and Ventura House, 
made to minimise loneliness, 
encourage positive 
engagement and provide a safe 
space for our residents to 
express themselves. Residents 
have had the opportunity to 
learn new skills in cooking, 
public speaking and leadership 
through the model of the 
Wellbeing Café. 
 
We have seen success from 
the Community Kitchen in 
Wimbledon, encouraging 
residents to get together in the 
communal kitchen and prepare 
and cook meals. 
 
The team has supported 
residents with the pressure of 
the cost-of-living crisis and 
gaining independent living 

skills, using slow cookers 
donated by Cadent. We 
delivered healthy eating 
sessions to 217 residents, 
providing workshops on 
shopping on a budget, 
preparing a meal safely and 
exploring different methods for 
cooking. 
 
During the year we also ran a 
Level 2 Gym Instructor 
programme at the YMCA 
Hawker Centre, which saw 9 
residents successfully pass and 
move on to applying for a Level 
3 course. 
 
We worked with the Financial 
Conduct Authority to support 
the residents at Northolt 
Grange with financial terms to 
build on financial literacy and 
becoming familiar with credit 
(good and bad) and APR, and 
financial intelligence to develop 
good financial housekeeping, 
building a realistic budget and 
generating savings. 
 
We have supported two 
residents with securing 
employment within the YMCA, 
one in Property & Places and 
one in Children, Youth and 
Families. 
 
We have successfully enrolled 
two residents onto the YMCA 
England and Wales Youth 
Ambassadors programme to 
support with gaining skills in 
understanding policies and 
supporting in shaping our 
policies, public speaking to act 
as a spokesperson 

representing us in national 
media outlets, through press 
statements and interviews, 
becoming advocates for the 
young people they represent 
through meeting with and 
influencing key decision makers 
such as MPs and community 
leaders. 
 
We have had success with the 
Resident Representative 
programme which has allowed 
us to achieve the following: 
 

• Engage with more residents 

across the charity, providing 

them with various 

opportunities to share 

feedback.  
 

• Ensure residents have 

further insight and influence 

over the way we deliver our 

services.    
 

• Meet the regulatory 

standards and key 

legislation on engaging and 

listening to residents.  
 

• Ameliorating the way we 

communicate with residents. 
 

• The programme has 25 

regular residents from 

across 22 projects, they 

meet regularly to review and 

discuss the impact of the 

service and how we can 

improve the resident 

experience. 
 

• History Month (with outings 

and in house get togethers).
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Customer Engagement & 
Involvement 
 
The engagement with 
customers and, in particular, 
residents was enhanced 
throughout 2023-24. 
 
Building on the Customer 
Charter agreed in 2022, in 
March 2023 we held our first 
YMCA St Paul’s Group 
Resident Reps Panel. This 
panel continued to meet 
regularly throughout the year 
with the progression team 
managers and then every six 

months with Senior 
Management and the Board. 
 
The Resident Rep Panel gave 
scrutiny to areas of 
organisational performance, 
including around complaints, 
repairs, satisfaction and 
communication. The Panel also 
scrutinised the resident survey 
responses, providing qualitative 
insight into the quantitative 
results that had been gathered. 
This led to the publication of a 
You Said, We Did brochure that 
was shared across all sites. It 
also helped inform the 

Resident’s Annual Report.  
 
Alongside their role on the 
Panel, many of the Reps took 
on external facing roles, helping 
launch the YMCA London 
manifesto as well as the YMCA 
national manifesto in 
Parliament. Reps also attended 
All Party Parliamentary Groups 
on Youth Affairs and gave 
evidence. Working with YMCA 
England and Wales, Reps also 
attended Party conferences to 
speak on behalf of YMCA.

 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING (H&WB) 
 
We believe that wellbeing is a crucial foundation that enables people to develop in all areas of their 
lives. H&WB offer a range of activities across several of our sites. 
 
Gym and Classes 
 
Activity levels at our gyms and 
classes grew throughout the 
year, with monthly subscription 
payers increasing from 2,997 to 
3,237, and a further 7,733 
registered casual and pay-as-
you-go users. 
 
The gym at our new YMCA 
Wimbledon opened in the 
autumn of 2023 and had 420 
monthly subscription payers by 
the end of the financial year, 
with an additional 1,218 
registered casual and pay-as-
you-go users. There are 67 
residents of the Wimbledon 
Hostel that regularly use the 
new gym facilities. 
 
During the year, we introduced 
Reformer Pilates at YMCA 

Wimbledon and YMCA Hawker. 
Attendance numbers have 
grown throughout the year and 
we are now averaging 48 
classes per week across the 
two locations. There are plans 
to further expand activity in this 
area in 2024-25. 
 
The emphasis in Reformer 
Pilates is on strengthening the 
body, stabilising the muscles 
and encouraging controlled 
mobility of the spine and limbs 
to improve balance. 
 
Customer reaction to the new 
service has been extremely 
positive. For example, we had 
the following feedback from one 
of our YMCA Hawker 
customers: 
 
" I recently started 

Reformer Pilates at the Hawker 
centre and have not looked 
back since. The classes are 
small, which means that the 
instructor can attend to 
everyone’s technique, making it 
feel very much like a private 
session. Since starting, I was 
surprised to find how quickly 
my strength had improved. The 
classes are easy to follow and 
Paula is brilliant at combining 
challenge with fun... The 
Reformer provides a great 
support to the body whilst 
simultaneously making it work. 
I’m not certain how it does that, 
however, I always feel like I’ve 
had a good workout by the end 
of the class. If you are 
considering trying it, don’t 
hesitate." 
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Hampton Pool 
 

Outdoor swimming at Hampton 
Pool continues to be very 
popular and this year we trialled 
several targeted programmes 
to support access to the pool 
from local disadvantaged 
communities in collaboration 
with Hampton Fuel, Hampton 
Food bank and 24 attendances 
through our Social Prescribing 
with RUIL’s - a Richmond user-
led charity supporting disabled 
children and adults and people 
with long term health & mental 
health conditions.  
 
We provided 95 GP referral 
passes as part of the Richmond 
Council supported free swims 
programme.  
 
The total number of 
attendances for the year at 
Hampton Pool was 250,846, of 
which 53,751 were children’s 
swimming lesson attendances 
at an average of 1,840 children 
each week. 
 
We introduced social value 
reporting at the pool, which 
provides a financial estimate of 
the assumed NHS health care 
cost savings generated through 
the activities undertaken. This 
generated an annual social 
value of £898k, at an average 
value of £66 per person using 
the pool. It is planned to extend 
the use of social value reporting 
across other areas of H&WB 
services. 
 
 
 
 

Catering  
 

This year saw the cessation of 
catering services at YMCA 
Wimbledon, as the newly 
opened hostel provides self-
catering facilities for residents. 
However, the catering team 
remain extremely busy 
providing catering to residents 
at YMCA South Ealing and 
YMCA Walthamstow, with the 
delivery of 39,385 meals to 
residents across the year. This 
included the provision of 
catering for the annual summer 
barbecue parties for residents 
and the provision of Christmas 
dinners. 
 
The catering team continue to 
provide community cafes, 
children’s party food and the 
provision of catering at Ealing 
Nursery, corporate, sports, 
training events, and celebratory 
events across a number of 
sites. 
 
The catering team have built a 
very good working relationship 
with the NHS team at 
Walthamstow, who have been 
using the service for their local 
training and conferences.  
 
Counselling & Positive 
Mental Health  
 
Release counselling has seen 
an increase in clients over the 
year and has been involved in 
several projects, including 
being at the forefront of PIE 
(Psychologically Informed 
Environment), delivering 
Compassionate Mind Training 
and Reflective Practice 

sessions, supporting the YMCA 
residents retreat to Dorset, 
supporting the progression 
team at the Wellbeing café in 
Walthamstow, and delivering 
counselling sessions to support 
staff. 
 
Over the year the counselling 
service delivered 1,612 
counselling sessions to YMCA 
residents and members of our 
communities. 
 
Counselling is potentially 
available to all YMCA residents 
across all the various housing 
projects and YMCA residents 
often present with a high level 
of distress; trauma and isolation 
are often key factors in this. 
The residents value the 
Counselling service, as one of 
our resident states: 
 
“Thank you for all of the support 

- these sessions have given me 

a sense of stability & have 

helped me a lot during these 

past few months.” 
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CHAPLAINCY IMPACT 
 
Our team of two chaplains have 
provided 946 pastoral care 
sessions throughout the year. 
67% (630) of these sessions 
were provided to our residents 
and 33% (316) to our staff. 
The Chaplaincy team continue 
to provide a crucial linking role 
between staff, volunteers, and 
residents, providing pastoral, 

caring and compassionate 
support where required. 
The issues being supported 
continue to be in line with 
previous years and include 
mental and physical health as 
well as addiction and matters 
relating to faith and hope.  
This was particularly important 
during the year as sadly the 
Charity experienced a higher-
than-normal number of serious 

incidents which had an 
emotional impact on staff and 
friends of those residents 
involved. The Chaplaincy team 
were able to provide a calm, 
reassuring presence where 
needed as well as create 
moments of reflection and 
celebration for those who have 
sadly passed.

  

 

 
CHILDREN, YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES 
 
Youth Work 
 
The Youth team delivered weekly sessions throughout 
2023/24, across Hayes, Walthamstow and Northolt, 
ranging from sports such as football, gym, non-contact 
boxing & basketball through to creative sessions 
including cooking and True Colours - an arts and 
wellbeing programme for Females Identifying and 
LGBTQIA+, as well as its on-site Youth Clubs.  
 
There were a total of 7,085 attendances to sessions 
made by young people during the year across all of 
our projects, with football and basketball being the 
most popular activities.  
 
In West London, over 400 
young people attended one or 
more sessions, with recorded 
outcomes that included 
improvements in mental health 
and well-being, family 
relationships, behaviour, 
reduction in anti-social 
behaviour in the community, 
attainment, and increased 
resilience through creativity and 
sports. Funders included John 
Lyon’s, City Bridge Trust, 
MOPAC, Garfield Weston, A2 
Dominion, Cadent, Young 
Ealing Foundation, Heathrow 
Community Trust and London 
Sport. 
 
In Walthamstow, 352 children 
and young people benefited 
from basketball, multisport, 
True Colours, holiday clubs and 
employment projects funded by 

BBC Children in Need, London 
Youth, Countryside 
Partnerships and Waltham 
Borough Council.  
 
Our RAF Benevolent Fund’s 
flagship Airplay programme, 
designed for meeting the needs 
of young people of the serving 
RAF family, as well as 
providing respite and support to 
their parents, has supported 
over 100 young people during 
the year. 
 
This year saw a new 
partnership between Northolt 
High School, YMCA St Paul’s 
Group and the Education & 
Skills Development Group, 
which aims to benefit 
vulnerable, disadvantaged and 
‘at risk’ children/young people 
aged 11-16 in Northolt. 

Championed by Youth Voice, 
the project aims to tackle, 
mitigate, and prevent poor 
social and educational 
outcomes and raise aspirations. 
Since the start of this project in 
October 2023, over 160 young 
people have signed up to the 
youth club. One 14-year-old 
attendee of the project provided 
the following feedback in 
response to being asked about 
his experience: 
 
“The youth club is really good. 
I’ve been able to relax a lot 
better than I have been able to 
in school. We haven’t had 
anything like this before…… I’m 
so happy to get to experience 
this for another 2 years.”  
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Early Years 
 
Post-Covid, in common with the 
rest of the sector, the nurseries 
experienced difficulties 
recruiting and retaining staff. 
This position improved 
significantly in 23/24, partly 
through the use of 
apprenticeships, which have 
allowed new and existing staff 
at different levels to undertake 
qualifications alongside their 
work in the nurseries.  
 
The YMCA Jumpers Nursery 
team, in Ealing, worked with 75 
children from 6 months to 4 
years’ old.  
 
PEOPLE & CULTURE 
 
Wellbeing remains a key 
priority area given the social 
and economic climate. We 
have continued to focus on staff 
wellbeing, offering support 
through our Thrive! Wellbeing 
hub, our Employee Assistance 
Programme and Mental Health 
First Aiders, as well as 
awarding staff a wellbeing day. 
 
The roll out of our 
Compassionate Mind Training 
to staff, combined with the 
reflective practise sessions (as 
part of building a 
Psychologically Informed 
Environment), has benefited 
staff, enabling them to work 
through emotions and process 
challenging situations. 
 
In 2023/2024 we supported our 
staff in the following ways: 
 

• One member of staff was 
apprenticeship trained and 
qualified in CIH Level 3; 
another two continued their 
Level 5 and Level 7 training, 
utilising Apprenticeship Levy 
funding. 
 

• Twenty members of staff 
started an Apprenticeship 

Levy funded course in 
2023/2024 (varying levels 
from Level 2 to Level 5, in 
diverse disciplines of 
childcare, housing, 
leadership, IT, and business 
admin). These staff are 
scheduled to qualify within 
the next 18 months. 

 

• We recruited 5 staff who are 
being funded by the 
Apprenticeship Levy to study 
maintenance NVQ Level 2 
and childcare NVQ Level 2. 

 

• Two of the management 
team started studying for the 
NVQ Level 5 leadership and 
management CMI 
accredited course. 

 

• 13 Mangers have been 
enrolled on the Ethnically 
Diverse Leadership and 
Emerging Leaders 
Programme (Level 5 & Level 
3 CMI accredited course), 
which launched this year.  

 

• Nineteen managers 
attended our tailored 
programme for our frontline 
managers - the SPG REV 
Management Development 
Programme, which focuses 
on recognising, empowering 
and valuing staff, with an 
overarching aim of growing 
inclusive leadership. 

 

• 109 staff have attended 
Compassionate Mind 
Training. This plays a key 
part in working towards a 
Psychologically Informed 
Environment. Staff learn 
how to develop and use 
their ‘compassionate minds’ 
to reduce self-criticism, 
balance strong negative 
emotions, e.g. anger, 
anxiety, shame, and become 
more compassionate to 
themselves and others. 

 
There were 53 live training 
sessions held in 2023-24. 
These were a mix of in-person 

and online events, resulting in 
630 live training completions. 
There were 3,693 e-Learnings 
completed by YMCA SPG staff 
in the year. 
 
Examples of training sessions 
provided include: 
 

• Compassionate Mind 
Training. 

• Conflict Management and 
Personal Safety. 

• Conscious Inclusion. 

• Contextual Safeguarding. 

• Emergency First Aid at Work. 

• Fire Warden Training. 

• Housing Benefit and Universal 
Credit. 

• Performance Reviews. 

• Self-Harm. 
 
This year we have focused on 
providing employability 
placements to students from 
some of the disadvantaged 
communities in which we 
operate, giving the students the 
practical knowledge required to 
become fully qualified, and 
increasing employment 
opportunities: 
  

• A Kingston College student 
studying health and social 
care undertook a placement 
within our progression team. 

 

• We welcomed 5 students 
from Waltham Forest 
College into our Customer 
Services Team and Catering 
Team. 

 

• We have partnered with 
Green Door, a disability 
charity, and provided a 
placement for one of their 
horticultural students at our 
Uxbridge Hostel. This has 
also provided an opportunity 
for some of our residents 
from the hostel to be 
involved, building new 
relationships, a sense of 
purpose and gardening 
skills. 
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PROPERTY & PLACES 
 
The Property and Places team 
went through a lot of changes 
in both leadership and staffing 
throughout the year, hence 
2023-24 is seen as a year of 
transition. Pleasingly, by the 
start of the new financial year, a 
new permanent Director, 
Nilavra Mukerji, was in place 
alongside other key 
departmental leads.  
 
Despite all the changes, the 
team continued to focus on 
ensuring a safe and secure 
environment for both customers 
and staff.  
 
Health and safety compliance 
and assurance was a major 
focus for the year, not least in 
light of the regulatory feedback. 
Changes to 2nd line assurance 
reporting lines were made and 
H&S reporting was enhanced to 
include all outstanding remedial 
actions. The Development and 
Assets Committee increased in 
scrutiny, challenging 
management for improvements 
in target completions. 
 
As well as scrutiny on H&S 
compliance, the Board and its 
Development and Asset 
Committee looked for 
improvements in repairs 
response rates, which dropped 
during the time of high staff 
turnover.  
 
To help with improvements in 
repairs reporting and 
monitoring, during the year we 
launched the pilot of Job Logic, 
our new repairs management 
system. Whilst it is still being 
rolled out, when fully mobilised 
Job Logic is aimed to help 
automate and thereby ensure a 
quicker, more efficient 
response to repairs and risk 
remedial actions. As part of 
reviewing the pilot and moving 
forward, we will engage with 

our customers to find out how 
we can make our system easier 
to access. 
 
Several capital projects were 
launched during the year, the 
largest of which was the 
refurbishment of Rodney Place, 
in line with the agreement 
signed with Surrey County 
Council at the end of 2022-23. 
The works will see the site 
made suitable for the newly 
implemented supported living 
model.  
 
Another innovation during the 
year was the launch of the 
Property Condition and 
Compliance Inspections. These 
surveys, developed as part of 
the new Asset Management 
Strategy, mean that the Charity 
visits and conducts its own in 
person survey of over 20% of 
its properties each year. As well 
as checking for overall 
condition and any required 
works, they also help the 
Charity demonstrate 
compliance with the Decent 
Homes Standard, which at the 
end of the year was 100% (with 
1 property declared void whilst 
works were being carried out). 
 
EXTERNAL REACH AND 
IMPACT 
 
Throughout 2023/2024, we 
continued to advocate on 
behalf of our residents and 
customers through a range of 
external communications and 
engagement opportunities, 
including: 
 

• Becoming a member of the 
London Housing Panel. The 
panel comprises 
organisations across 
London and meets with 
decision-makers from the 
Greater London Authority 
(GLA) to discuss what 
London needs. 

 

• Helping develop and launch 
London’s first-ever Rough 
Sleeping Charter that was 
launched by the Mayor of 
London on 7th Dec 2023. 

 

• Supporting residents to 
attend the All-Party 
Parliamentary Group for 
Youth Affairs at the House of 
Commons, with one resident 
sharing her personal 
experience as a panel 
speaker. 

 

• Holding a Grand Opening of 
YMCA Wimbledon, inviting 
local stakeholders including 
local councillors, the Mayor 
of Merton, members of the 
Diocese and local 
companies and businesses 
who have supported YMCA 
Wimbledon throughout the 
development. During the 
presentation, one resident 
shared details of her journey 
with the YMCA. 

 

• Hosting a range of MPs and 
local councillors at YMCA 
Wimbledon, including 
Deputy Mayor of London 
Tom Copley, to see first-
hand how our brand-new 
building is enabling our 
vision to create places 
where young people thrive 
and communities flourish. 

 

• Holding an Annual Stars 
Awards event, which was 
hosted by Rupa Huq MP at 
the House of Commons and 
saw our staff, customers and 
supporters come together to 
celebrate the achievements 
of the YMCA St Paul’s 
Group community. 

 

• Playing a lead role in the 
launch of the YMCA London 
Mayoral Manifesto, providing 
insight and 
recommendations to the 
report, as well as supporting 
a resident to speak at the 
launch event about her 
personal journey to Mayoral 
candidates. 
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Continuing to support and work 
with Trust Impact to develop 
YMCA’s real-time national 
impact visualisation tool: 
http://impact.ymca.org.uk 
 
YMCA FEDERATION 
ENGAGEMENT  
 
During the year we continued to 
support the work of the wider 
Federation including:  
 

• The new Federation 
Strategy Steering Group 
which developed a new 
Federation plan and 
accompanying action 
tracker. 
 

• As part of the Culture and 
Ethos working group. 

 

• The Brand Development 
Group, which both helps 
review Brand usage and 
optimisation. 

 

• Supporting the development 
of the dynamic, Federation 
wide, Impact monitoring tool. 

 

• The YMCA Safeguarding 
network, helping peer to 
peer learning across larger 
YMCAs. 

 
As well as supporting different 
groups, strong relationships 
were maintained with other 
YMCAs through the sharing of 
policies, information and advice 
as well as exchange visits. 
 
FUTURE PROSPECTS     
 

After several years where 
external threats dominated 
internal decision making, the 
priorities set out in the new 
2024-27 Strategic Plan show 
that we are now looking forward 
to a stronger future. These 
priorities, all under the heading 
of Investing in our Future, focus 
on establishing strong 
foundations, putting the 
customer at the heart of what 
we do, and then looking to grow 
our work and reach.  

These new priorities will build 
on the systems and processes 
that have been introduced in 
the last few challenging years, 
and will look to create a 
stronger and more vibrant 
YMCA St Paul’s Group for the 
future.  
    
COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REGULATOR OF SOCIAL 
HOUSING’S GOVERNANCE 
AND VIABILITY STANDARD 
 

As a registered provider of 
social housing, we have 
undertaken an assessment of 
compliance as required by the 
Governance & Viability 
Standard of the Regulator of 
Social Housing. This report has 
been prepared in accordance 
with all applicable standards 
and legislation.  
 
The Trustees confirm that we 
have complied with the 
Governance & Financial 
Viability Standard throughout 
the year and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report 
and financial statements.

http://impact.ymca.org.uk/
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FINANCIAL & 
OPERATING REVIEW 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

t 31 March 2024, the Group had 
property and assets of £66.5m, 
reserves totalling £33.8m and an 

annual turnover of £28.7m. Our principal 
sources of income arise from our 
charitable activities of providing Housing & 
Support, Health & Wellbeing services and 
Children’s, Youth & Family Work. 
 
The Group achieved turnover from social 
housing and other activities for the year 
ended 31 March 2024 of £28.7m, an 
increase of 9.2% year on year. 
 
 
 
The Group achieved a significantly 
improved surplus in 2023-24 of £1,369k, 
up from £154k the previous year. The 
increase resulted from several factors, 
including income growth, a reduced level 
of void losses, a lower level of bad debt 
write-offs, a non-cash actuarial gain on the 
triennial valuation of the deferred benefit 
pension scheme, a lower level of 
redundancy costs and the fact that £245k 
of loan refinancing costs were incurred in 
2022-23. 
 
 
 
 
Housing properties are held at historic 
cost and unamortised grant is held in long-
term creditors. Fixed assets increased in 
value by £3,937k, after depreciation, 
primarily due to the investment in the new 
Wimbledon Hostel, which was 
successfully completed in year and 
opened in August 2023. 
 

A 
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At 31 March 2024 we had £2.2m cash 
and cash equivalents (2023: £3.7m). In 
the year we: 
 

• Received £3.7m from our operating 
activities. 

• Invested £5.1m in existing and new 
stock, including the completion of 
YMCA Wimbledon. 

• Repaid £6.6m of loan balances and 
had £6.0m of new loan drawdowns. 

• Paid interest of £0.9m. 
 
 

VALUE FOR MONEY (VfM)       
 
A key part of our VfM Strategy 
is compliance with the 
Regulator of Social Housing 
VfM Standard. The Standard 
recognises that there are 
special circumstances 
surrounding the provision of 
supported housing which make 
them more costly to operate 
than general needs/traditional 
housing. For the purposes of 
the Standard, the Regulator 
has defined supported housing 
providers as those that have 
supported housing that 
accounts for more than 30% of 
their total housing stock. These 
registered providers are noted 
to have higher costs and lower 
operating margins than more 
traditional housing providers, 
primarily due to the broader 
range of services that they 
provide. 
 
The Regulator recognises that 
these high costs and lower 
margins tend to mean that 
these organisations are less 
able to support debt to finance 
investment activity. As a result, 
they tend to have lower gearing 
than organisations with less 
supported housing and 
consequently their reinvestment 
and new supply metrics remain 
below the sector median. 

We face all the above 
challenges and more due to the 
provision of community 
services, which represent circa 
20% of overall activities. 
 
VfM underpins the delivery of 
our vision and aims. The 
overarching VfM objective is to 
achieve corporate priorities to 
provide better services to 
residents and service users and 
to maintain capacity to support 
business growth. It is an area of 
priority for the Board, who 
consider it a commercial 
necessity as well as an 
obligation to drive VfM through 
the business. Our position as a 
growing charity increasingly 
relies on our ability to become 
ever more efficient and to 
generate healthy operating 
(financial) margins. 
 
The Board believes achieving 
VfM is essential to the delivery 
of our key priorities.  Our VfM 
strategy addresses the way we 
work, covering three important 
VfM principles that underpin our 
organisational efficiency and 
maximisation of value:  
 

1. How we ensure the best 
use of our assets. 
 

2. How we will challenge costs 
and obtain VfM in the 
procurement of goods and 
services across the Charity. 
 

3. How we will work to 
improve the overall 
efficiency of the business, 
including improvements to 
systems and sharing these 
benefits across the Charity. 

 

Our overall aim is to gradually 
reduce unit costs through cost 
control, better use of 
technology and growth. We 
have the objective of growing 
the operating margin 
percentage in the medium-
term, whilst working to make 
the business operate more 
economically, efficiently, and 
effectively through a 
programme of incremental, 
sustainable improvements. The 
approach is captured in six VfM 
commitments: 
 

1. Cost Savings and 
Procurement: We will 
scrutinise spending and 
challenge costs to ensure 
we achieve greater 
economy, reduce waste and 
deliver greater value.
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2. Customer Service: Ensure 
that the customer voice is at 
the heart of everything we 
do. This will help us deliver a 
better targeted, informed 
support service that 
minimises inefficiencies and 
delivers better outcomes. 

 

3. Asset Management: We 
will ensure that our homes 
and other facilities are safe 
and decent whilst working 
towards making our overall 
stock more environmentally 
and economically efficient, 
thereby reducing costs. 

 

4. Growth: We will be a 
leading provider of 
Supported Housing to young 
people in London, enabling 
us to expand our work 
without significantly 
increasing our overheads. 

 

5. Business Efficiency: We 
will deliver efficiencies 
across the Charity by 
reducing overheads, 
streamlining back-office 

processes and systems, 
making better use of data, 
automating processing 
activity and improving cost 
analysis. 

 

6. Great place to work: We 
will be known as a Great 
Place to Work ©, helping us 
retain and attract the best 
people to work for us, 
reducing recruitment and 
outsourced staffing costs. 

 
Performance Against the 
Regulator’s VfM Metrics 
 
We have produced the metrics 
prescribed by the Regulator of 
Social Housing and ensured 
they are consistent with the 
financial statements as a 
whole. The section below 
addresses the metrics and our 
comparative performance 
across these indicators and the 
Sector Scorecard. 
 
To benchmark performance, we 
have established a peer group 

with similar geography and 
housing provision that is 
predominantly Supported 
Housing. There are a limited 
number of providers that are 
predominantly Supported 
Housing and have a significant 
presence in the London region 
– we include 4 providers in our 
peer group, an increase of 1 
from last year to improve the 
quality of comparison.  
 
The median values from the 
peer group, which includes the 
Charity, are used to provide a 
comparison in the table below. 
Note that the peer group figures 
are based on the 2022/23 
Global Accounts statistics of 
Registered Providers with stock 
comprising more than 30% 
Supported Housing and a 
presence in London of at least 
20% of total stock. As such, 
they are a direct comparison for 
our 2023 results in the table.

 

 
 
Registered housing providers 
are required by the Regulator to 
publish their performance 
against seven indicators, as 
shown above.  
 
We achieved a significantly 
better operating margin than 
last year (8.5% against 4.2%), 
which was 0.5% higher than 

target. We achieved better 
performance than the peer 
median from 2023, with 
operating margins in the peer 
group ranging from -2.6% to 
10.5%.  
 
EBITDA MRI has improved 
year-on-year and is above 
target in 2024, reflecting the 

improved operating margin and 
that capital maintenance spend 
was lower than targeted.  
 
The increase in new supply as 
a percentage of current units 
reflects the completion of the 
new Wimbledon hostel and the 
transitioning of care home 
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rooms to supported living in 
2023-24.  
 
Gearing has reduced in 2024 
following the completion of the 
Wimbledon hostel, which has 
increased the book value of our 
housing stock.  Gearing is 
higher than the peer group, but 
lower than is typically seen 
across the sector for larger 
housing providers. 
 
Reinvestment % (housing 
property capital investment as a 
proportion of housing book 
value) has reduced significantly 

in 2024, reflecting the 
completion of the Wimbledon 
hostel in August 2023 
(construction was in progress 
throughout the previous year). 
 
Headline social housing cost 
has increased by 6.7% in 2024, 
reflecting inflationary cost 
pressures – we had the median 
value in the 2023 peer group, 
with peer group values ranging 
from £7.2k to £25.6k.   
 
The return on capital employed, 
which measures the efficiency 
of investment of capital 

resources, is significantly 
higher than last year, reflecting 
the improved operational 
performance. 
 
Sector Scorecard 
 
In addition to the metrics 
prescribed by the Regulator, we 
assess our performance using 
the Sector Scorecard as well as 
an internal performance 
scorecard. This ensures that 
the Board and stakeholders can 
assess performance against 
our overall strategy. 

 
 
The Operating Margin 
– Social Housing 
Lettings (SHL) 
performance is higher 
than last year and the 
peer group median, 
with the peer group 
ranging from -5.9% to 
5.2%. 
 
The EBITDA MRI interest cover measure is a key indicator for liquidity and investment capacity. Our 
performance has improved and is significantly better than the peer group median (3 of the 4 peers 
have a negative EBITDA MRI). 
 
New supplies, which 
are additional units of 
accommodation 
created from new 
development, property 
acquisitions or 
remodelling existing 
hostels, have 
increased by 54, 
reflecting the net 
increase in units from 
the new Wimbledon 
hostel (11) and the 
transitioning of 44 care 
home rooms to social 
living.
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Occupancy levels have 
improved in 2024, 
following a significant 
focus in reducing void 
levels by ensuring any 
required end of tenancy 
maintenance work is 
completed quickly and 
working closely with our 
partners to fill vacant 
rooms. 
 
Resident Feedback 
 
During the year, an annual residents’ survey was carried out. The Resident Survey is held across all 
sites simultaneously, inviting residents to share their views against all elements of the services we 
provide to them. Highlights of the results are summarised below*: 
 

• 67% of respondents reported that they were satisfied with the overall level of service received 
(2023: 73%). 

• 69% of respondents were satisfied that we keep them informed about things that matter to them 
(2023: 78%). 

• 42% of respondents who reported making a complaint in the last 12 months were satisfied with 
our approach to complaints handling (2023: 38%). 

• 67% of respondents who received a repair in the last 12 months were satisfied with the overall 
repairs service (2023: 72%). 

• 83% of respondents felt that we treated them fairly and with respect (2023: 81%). 

• 67% of respondents were happy with the way we dealt with anti-social behaviour complaints 
(2023: 61%). 

 
*Note that the 2024 survey results have been calculated on a weighted basis, which was not the case in 2023. 

 
Complaints continues to be an area of significant focus and is being closely monitored by both senior 
management and the Performance Committee. 
 
Operating Efficiency 
 
 

 
*Note that Overheads as a % of Adjusted Turnover is after removing the impact of actuarial valuation 
adjustments to the defined benefit pension scheme deficit. 
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All of the targets and KPIs have 
been reviewed, ensuring that 
we continue to track both 
business-critical metrics and 
regulatory items.  
 
Management costs have 
remained broadly in line with 
prior year, partly reflecting the 
fact that some senior roles 
were vacant for parts of the 
year, pending recruitment. 
 
Maintenance, major repairs and 
service charge costs have all 
increased over last year, 
reflecting the inflationary cost 
pressures. 
 
Rent collection has improved 
over the previous year, 
reflecting a tightening of 
procedures around the 
collection of arrears, which saw 
a significant increase in 2023 
due to the cost-of-living crisis. 
 
Overheads as a percentage of 
turnover remains a key focus 
area for the Board and will be 
subject to a full review in 2024-
25. 
 

Capital Structure and 
Treasury Policy 
 
Our debt is sourced from a 
number of UK banks. 
 
All drawn and undrawn loans 
were secured against social 
housing assets. Together with 
the available cash balance, 
these funds are sufficient to 
meet the funding commitments. 
We have a Treasury 
Management Policy, which is 
approved by the Trustees. The 
Treasury Management Policy 
seeks to address funding and 
liquidity risk and covenant 
compliance. 

Future Prospects        
 
We remain very mindful of the 
difficulties residents and service 
users are experiencing 
because of the cost-of-living 
crisis. Inflation and the rising 
cost of building safety 
standards have put upward 
pressure on service charges 
and charges to service users, 
although the pressure on prices 
is now reducing.  
 
The Board will continue to 
manage costs through a 
rigorous annual budget setting 
process and consider the 
impact on service costs for 
residents. An updated business 
plan has been approved by the 
Board. An asset management 
review is in progress, which will 
determine the capital 
investment priorities for the 
duration of the new Strategic 
Plan 2024-27 and beyond.  
                        
Reserves Policy 
 
The reserves that we have set 
aside provide financial stability 
and the means for the 
continued development of the 
principal charitable activities. 
We intend to maintain 
unrestricted funds at a sufficient 
level to cover management and 
administration costs for at least 
three months. We maintain a 
strong reserves position to 
protect our social housing 
activities. 
 
The Board regularly reviews the 
level of reserves that are 
required to ensure that they are 
adequate to fulfil continuing 
obligations. This is guided by 
our Business Plan, Risk 
Mitigation Protocol, banking 
covenants and stress testing 

activities. 
 
Group as a Going Concern 
 
The financial statements are 
prepared on the basis that the 
Group will continue for the 
forthcoming 12 months from the 
date of signing of these 
financial statements.  
 
Our business plan has been 
stress tested and the Board has 
considered the potential 
impacts from numerous single 
and multi-variant adverse 
scenarios.  
 
The Board reviewed and 
debated the detailed stress 
testing at its meeting in May 
2024. This year, the stress 
testing focussed on a wide 
range of economic and 
operational risks, including 
adverse inflation, interest rates, 
voids and arrears. The impact 
of a serious operational incident 
at one of our larger sites was 
also modelled, in this case a lift 
failure, resulting in the need to 
decant all residents to hotels, 
for one month, until the lift 
became operational. 
 
Alongside these single variant 
impacts, two multi-variant 
scenarios were modelled, a 
black-swan event (4 single 
variant stresses occurring 
simultaneously – higher void 
losses, loss of support contract, 
regulatory requirement to 
complete unplanned capital 
maintenance work and higher 
than forecast staff costs) and 
an economic shock event 
(escalation of conflict in the 
Middle East, resulting in cost 
inflation and interest rates 
increasing, leading to higher 
staff costs, increased rental 
arrears and a reduction in non-
housing income).  
 
The outcome of the stress tests 
performed focused on liquidity, 



YMCA ST PAUL’S GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING REVIEW (continued) 

 

25 
 

security and covenant 
compliance as a result of 
adjusting the key inputs. 
 
Options for mitigation to ensure 
the business can continue in 
the short and longer term have 
also been reviewed. Mitigations 
exist for all scenarios as a 
precaution, to ensure 
compliance with all covenant 
and regulatory requirements. 
 
The lift failure single variant 
stress test (in 2025-26) and the 
black swan (in 2024-25 and 
2025-26) and economic shock 
(in 2025-26 to 2026-27) multi-
variant events indicated 
covenant breaches could occur 
if mitigating actions were not 
taken. Mitigating actions 
showed that we would be able 
to withstand these external 
pressures. 
 
Periodic updates to the 
financial business plan, 
management accounts 
forecasts and key performance 
indicator reporting enables 
continuous monitoring of the 
business. We maintain higher 
liquidity levels than the funding 
requirement identified in our 
updated business plan; the 

Board considers this to be 
prudent in the current uncertain 
economic environment. 
 
We recognise possible 
concerns relating to our 
participation in a defined benefit 
pension scheme. Appropriate 
action has been taken. The 
scheme was closed to new 
members in 2007, and the link 
to final salary broken in 2011 
with additional contributions 
continuing to be made to 
reduce the deficit. As part of the 
YMCA federation, the multi-
employer pension scheme is 
run by an independent Trustee 
board with employer 
representation through the 
Principal Employer, National 
Council of YMCAs. The 
pension scheme Trustee 
obtains an actuarial valuation 
every three years and we have 
considered the implications on 
our finances from the latest 
available actuarial valuation.  
 
We have reviewed our ability to 
continue to deliver our 
charitable objectives by 
ensuring budgets, forecasts 
and plans are available and 
include the impact of deficit 
repayments. The Board 

included the impact of pension 
scheme deficit repayments in 
considering going concern 
status, reserves, and the risks 
and uncertainties that we face 
noted elsewhere in this report. 
 
We benefit from the pension 
scheme Trustee and the 
Principal Employer seeking 
suitable specialist professional 
advice both to manage the 
scheme and in the continuing 
effort to explore ways of 
reducing the overall pension 
deficit. The notes to the 
Accounts include an accounting 
policy and further details in 
notes 23 and 24. 
 
After making enquiries, the 
Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the overall 
Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of at least 
12 months after the date on 
which the report and financial 
statements are signed. For this 
reason, it continues to adopt 
the going concern basis in the 
financial statements. No 
material uncertainties exist.
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STREAMLINED ENERGY 
AND CARBON REPORT 

 
 

 
 

he Charity is committed 
to reducing its carbon 
footprint and has 

developed a detailed 
environment policy. 
 
Streamlined Energy and 
Carbon Reporting (SECR) was 
introduced in 2019, as 
legislation to replace the 
Carbon Reduction Commitment 
(CRC) Scheme. SECR requires 
obligated companies to report 
on their energy consumption 
and associated greenhouse 
gas emissions within their 
financial reporting for 
Companies House. 
 
SECR requires businesses to 
include their energy use 
(including electricity, gas and 
transport) emissions and an 
intensity metric in their annual 
Directors'/Trustees’ report for 
financial years beginning on or 
after 1 April 2019. This 
regulation applies to all quoted 
companies and large UK 
companies with over 250 
employees or annual turnover 
of more than £36m or an 
annual balance sheet of over 
£18m. 
 
For the purpose of SECR 
compliance, we are considered 
a large company as we have 
more than 250 employees and 
an annual balance sheet value 
in excess of £18m, together 
with an energy consumption in 
the UK above the 40,000kWh 

threshold. As such we are 
required to report: 
 

• UK energy use (to include as 
a minimum purchased 
electricity, gas and transport); 
 

• associated annual global 
greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions;  
 

• at least one emissions 
intensity ratio;  
 

• previous year’s figures for 
energy use and GHG 
emissions (except in the first 
year); 
 

• a narrative on energy 
efficiency measures; and 
  

• details of the methodology 
used in calculation of 
disclosures. 
 
Summary  
 
Our Scope 1 and 2 
Greenhouse Gas emissions 
(henceforth referred to as GHG 
emissions) are mainly from 
owned and rented building 
energy use.  
 
The total gross GHG emissions 
in 2023/24 for Scope 1 and 2 
are equal to 2,266 tCO2e, 
which means:  
 

• a reduction of 30% 
compared to the 2018/19 
baseline emissions (3,249 
tCO2e).  

 

• a reduction of 1% compared 
to the 2022/23 previous year 
(2,297 tCO2e).  

These are divided below:  
 

• Emissions from combustion 
of gas tCO2e (Scope 1) = 
1,470 tCO2e.  

 

• Emissions from combustion 
of transport fuels tCO2e 
(Scope 1) = 6 tCO2e.  

 

• Emissions from purchased 
electricity tCO2e (Scope 2, 
Location Based) = 790 
tCO2e.  

  
The carbon intensity (both 
gross and net) ratio in 2023/24 
is 0.0789 kilograms of CO2-
equivalent per pound spent.  
  
We are committed to reducing 
our carbon footprint and have 
developed a detailed 
environmental policy. We have 
also appointed a “Green 
Team”, which has been working 
toward the implementation of 
our sustainability policy. 
 
Quantification and 
Methodology 
 
Energy data  
 
Energy consumption data has 

been monitored using the Pilio 

energy and carbon software. 

Energy data is added to the 

Pilio software by means of:  
 

• Manual meter readings.  
 

• Actual and estimated meter 

readings on energy bills. 

T 
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• HH kWh shared by the 

appointed Data Collector.  

 
Transport data  
 

The emissions from the 

combustion of fuels used for 

transport are calculated from 

reported mileage in 2023/24.  

 

Emission conversion factors  
 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions are 

calculated by using the 

DEFRA’s Greenhouse Gas 

reporting conversion factors 

2023 as most of the reporting 

period falls in 2023. 

These are:  
 

• Gas = Natural gas kWh 

(Gross CV), 0.18293 

kgCO2e/kWh.  

• Electricity = UK electricity, 

0.207074 kgCO2e/kWh.  

 
 

Previous year comparison  
 

The previous year's (2022/23) 

energy consumption and 

carbon emissions are reported 

from the SECR 2022/23 report.  

  
Reporting boundaries  
 

To report the 2023/24 

emissions, we have used an 

operational control approach, 

where we report on all sources 

of environmental impact over 

which we have operational 

control.  

  
Quantified GHG Inventory of 
Emissions and Removals  
  

Scope 1 and 2 GHG 
emissions  
 

As outlined above, total carbon 

emissions in 2023/24 were 

equal to 2,266.3 tCO2e 

(2022/23 2,296.5 tCO2e). 

Emissions from Scope 1 (gas 

and transport) account for 65% 

of the total, while the emissions 

from Scope 2 (electricity) 

account for 35%.  

  
The total net GHG emissions 

for 2023/24 for Scope 1 and 2 

are equal to 2,266.0 tonnes of 

CO2-equivalent (2022/23 

2,296.5) thanks to renewable 

electricity generation and 

exports to the national grid (-0.3 

tCO2e).  

  
The carbon intensity (gross) 
ratio for 2023/24 is 0.0789 
kilograms of CO2equivalent per 
pound spent (2022/23 0.0869). 
 
Intensity measurement 
 

The Charity is a service 
provider and as such the metric 
“Scope 1 and 2 emissions in 
kilogram of CO2e per £ of 
turnover” was chosen as the 
reference for intensity 
measurement. 
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Carbon Offsets  
 

No carbon offsets have been 

used in 2023/24.  

  
Electricity  
 

• Electricity purchased for 

own use or consumption: 

3,815.0 MWh (2022/23 

4,276.2 MWh).  
 

• Renewable electricity 

generated from owned or 

controlled sources: 33.5 

MWh (2022/23 9.2 MWh). 
  

• Generated onsite backed 

by REGOs Electricity 

exported to the grid: 1.7 

MWh (2022/23 1.8 MWh).  

 

We have exported renewable 

electricity to the National Grid 

from on-site Photovoltaic 

generation in the Y-Cube 

building. This amount of 

electricity, which is monitored 

using meter readings and a 

monitoring tool, was multiplied 

by the grid average emissions 

factor and deducted from the 

gross emissions figure as 

allowed under the 2013 UK 

Government environmental 

reporting guidance.  

  
Heat generation  
 
No heat was generated in 

2023/24.  

  
Scope 3 emissions  
 
Scope 3 emissions are not 

required from SECR reporting 

and thus have not been 

calculated.  

 
GHG reduction initiative and 
internal performance tracking  
  
We recognise the urgency of 

energy and climate action and 

have put in place some 

initiatives to reduce our energy 

usage and environmental 

footprint. Among these, we 

have: 
  

• Installed more smart meters 

across our property estate. 
 

• Started a pilot heat pump 

scheme at one of our sites 

(Hawker), alongside 

installing additional solar 

panels. 
 

• Moved all fleet vehicles to 

electric.   
 

• Capital investments:  
 

- The new Wimbledon 

hostel, which opened in 

August 2023, is our best 

practice hostel with an air 

source heat pump (no 

gas). 
  

- Continuation of our LED 

replacement programme.  
 

• Continued with our 

behavioural change 

programmes, including:  
 

• Switch off campaign.   

• Earth Day tree planting.    

• Litter picking & 

awareness.    

• ESG.   

• Resident programmes.  

• Monitoring 

questionnaire.
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RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

 
 

 

 

 

 

e regularly consider 
risk and have 
developed a detailed 

risk strategy that takes into 
account strategic, operational 
and project risks.  
 
We use a dynamic, cloud-
based, risk management 
system that allows the 
monitoring of strategic risks as 
well as subsequent controls 
and actions. The Risk Policy 
was updated in January 2023. 
The Board also regularly 
considers its key risks as well 
as any changes to our risk 
profile.  
        
The Audit & Risk Committee is 
tasked with reviewing the 

assurances that demonstrate 
risks are being managed. This 
is supported by independent 
internal auditors who report 
directly to the Audit & Risk 
Committee. 
 
In relation to fire risk, we 
employ an external consultant 
who undertakes an 
independent inspection of all 
our property assets. This 
review includes a review of all 
hazards as well as checking 
that fire compliance has 
adhered to and evidenced. 
 
We employ a full-time Head of 
Health & Safety to oversee 
compliance and manage 
associated risks.  

Health and safety risk 
assessments are developed by 
the departmental staff and 
managed by operational 
managers. Assurance is 
provided by both internal audit 
and business improvement 
officers. Incidents, accidents 
and complaints are regularly 
reviewed with lessons learnt 
used to inform future risk 
assessments and policy and 
procedure development.  
 
All Trustee reports include a 
consideration of risk and any 
new project or major 
development has its own risk 
register and is presented as 
part of the governance process.

  

 

Key Strategic Risks 
 
The key strategic risks and uncertainties under review by the Board are: 
 

 

W 
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We maintained our Business 
Continuity Plan, making 
provision for unforeseen 
incidents that could occur. 
During the year, the Plan was 
deployed in response to a third-
party incident at one of our 
sites. Whilst the incident was 
beyond our control, the 
response arrangements were 
good and all useful learning 
points were captured.  
 
Treasury Risk Management            
 

Our operations expose us to 
some financial risks.  

 
Management continuously 
monitors these risks with a view 
to protecting us against the 
potential adverse effects of 
these financial risks. 
 
Financial Instruments 
Our basic financial instruments 
comprise cash at bank and in 
hand, term deposits, debtors, 
loans and creditors that arise 
directly from its operations. 
There are surplus funds to fund 
future operating costs. 
 
 

 
Credit Risk 
 
It is our policy to assess trade 
receivables for recoverability on 
an individual basis and to make 
provisions where considered 
necessary. In assessing 
recoverability, management 
considers any indicators of 
impairment up until the 
reporting date. The trade 
debtors were not impaired; 
hence, no impairment losses 
have been recognised. 
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Holding funds with a 
commercial bank exposes the 
Charity to counter-party credit 
risk. The amounts held at the 
year-end are with banks with 
solid investment grade credit 
ratings. 
 
 
 
 

Interest rate risk 
 
The loans we hold are basic 
financial instruments which are 
held at market value. This 
minimises the interest rate risk. 
 
Risk is managed by limiting 
exposure to variable rate debt. 
As at 31 March 2024, 70% of 
our debt portfolio was fixed.  

Liquidity risk 
 
We maintain sufficient levels of 
cash and cash equivalents and 
manage our working capital by 
carefully reviewing forecasts on 
a regular basis to determine the 
requirements for our day-to-day 
operations.
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FUNDRAISING 
 
 

 
 

 
harity law requires 
charities to make a 
statement regarding 

fundraising activities. The 
legislation defines fundraising 
as ‘soliciting or otherwise 
procuring money or other 
property for charitable 
purposes’. Such amounts 
receivable are presented in 
these accounts in other 
operating income. 
 
Political Donations 
 
We did not make any political 
donations during the financial 
year. 
 

Fundraising Activities and 
Governance 
 
Our primary fundraising for 
voluntary income arises from 
donations from individuals and 
grants from trusts and 
foundations. We raise funds 
using our own staff and 
volunteers and work in 
partnership with other charities 
where there is a common 
mission. However, we do not 
use commercial fundraisers or 
third parties.  
 
To support our values and 
ethics, we are registered with 
the Fundraising Regulator and 

live out the principles of the 
Code of Fundraising Practice. 
As well as deploying our own 
safeguarding procedures, our 
fundraising accords with the 
Charity Commission’s 
guidance. This includes the 
provision of training for the staff 
involved in fundraising. There 
were no breaches of the Code 
or fundraising complaints 
during the year. In reflecting on 
the large donations and grants 
received, we were satisfied that 
those donors and funders were 
of good character and 
supported our aims and 
objectives.

 
 

Funders and Supporters 
 

 
 

C 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

 
 

 
 

e are committed to 
exhibiting best 
practice in all aspects 

of corporate governance. This 
section provides an overview of 
the governance of the Charity. 
 
Governance framework 
 
We are governed by our 
Articles of Association, which 
provides the constitutional 
framework. These are available 
for inspection on the 
Companies House website or 
from the Company Secretary.  
 
We are committed to sound 

corporate governance and have 
adopted the National Housing 
Federation’s Code of 
Governance (2020). Our 
adoption of the National 
Housing Federation’s Code of 
Conduct (2022) incorporates 
additional provisions embracing 
safeguarding given our work as 
both a housing association and 
registered charity and the 
beneficiaries that are served. 
The Board annually reviews its 
compliance with these Codes 
(most recently in in June 2024 
where compliance was once 
again noted), 
 

We are affiliated, via a 
membership agreement, to the 
National Council of YMCAs for 
England and Wales (otherwise 
known as YMCA England and 
Wales) and, through them, to 
the worldwide YMCA family.  
 

Group structure 
 
The Charity is the parent 
charity of a group of 
companies. The Charity is the 
sole corporate or beneficial 
owner of all entities in the 
group: 

 
 

 
 
 
YMCA St Paul’s Group 
(Development) Ltd was active 
throughout the year with its 
principal activity being the 
Group’s design and build 
contractor for the Wimbledon 
development. 
 
On 31 March 2023, we 

received a transfer of West 
London YMCA’s charitable 
undertaking, assets and 
liabilities (the ‘Corporate 
Transfer'). This was an intra-
group transfer from a wholly-
owned subsidiary to its parent. 
This was in pursuance of the 
long-held strategic objective of 

locating all the Group’s 
activities within the Parent 
Charity itself and securing 
value for money efficiency 
savings. As a result, West 
London YMCA was dormant 
throughout the 2023/24 
financial year.

YMCA St Paul's 
Group

YMCA St Paul's 
Group 

(Development) Ltd

West London YMCA

(Dormant)

Forest YMCA

(Dormant)

YMCA London 
Group Ltd

(Dormant)

W 
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The Charity’s Trustee Board 
 
The Trustees met on eight 
occasions during the year. This 
included a strategy away day 
and the business planning & 
stress testing workshop. We 
also undertook a mid-year 
stress testing update to help 
manage economic risks. The 
Trustees also undertook site 
visits and service user 
engagement.  
 
Alongside the visit to local 
projects, the use of breakfast 
briefings provided the 
opportunity to provide greater 
awareness and discussion on 
housing, strategic planning and 
community services. 
Furthermore, a number of 
trustees & committee members 
participated in National Housing 
Federation training to aid them 
in their roles and development.  
 
The Trustees are committed to 
maintaining an effective board 
and committee structure. 
During the year, recruitment 
took place which resulted in 
one trustee and three 
committee members being co-
opted. All successful 
candidates received induction 
training covering governance, 
finance, risk and safeguarding 

along with a service delivery 
briefing on our activities.  
 
During the year, Roni Savage 
retired as a trustee after many 
years’ service as both a Vice 
Chair and Chair of the 
Development & Assets 
Committee. Grateful thanks are 
extended to Roni for her 
service. 
 
Governance Strategy, Code 
of Governance and External 
Board Effectiveness Review 
 
During the year, the Trustees 
continued to develop the 
Charity’s governance 
arrangements.  
 
This incorporated: 
 

a) delivering and monitoring 
progress against the 
pursuance of the 2022/25 
Governance Strategy; 
 

b) complying with the 2020 
Code of Governance and 
the Code of Conduct 
2022; and 

 

c) delivering the G2 to G1 
Action Plan objectives. 

 
We have continued to develop 
our resident engagement work 
and pursue the objectives set 

out in the Customer 
Engagement, Involvement and 
Empowerment Charter. 
 
Delivering Good Governance 
Using a Committee Structure 
 
The Trustees expanded their 
effectiveness by deploying a 
committee structure to gain 
further assurance and access 
specialist skills.  
 
All of the Committees are 
committees of the main Trustee 
Board and comprise a mix of 
trustees and independent 
members who have specialist 
skills. Matters identified by the 
committees are escalated to 
the Board through a formal 
report, urgent matters are 
reported by the Chair of the 
Committee to the Chair of the 
Board.  
 
The Trustees would like to 
record their appreciation for 
Bola Oladimeji and Brett Seath 
who stood down during the 
year. 
 
The Trustees are grateful for 
the diligent service of the 
independent members in the 
financial year under  
review.

  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Trustee Board

Audit & Risk 
Committee

Development & 
Assets 

Committee

People & 
Governance 
Committee

Performance 
Committee
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Independent Committee 
members during the year 
included:  
 
Audit and Risk Committee  
▪ Alan Botterill 
▪ Chris Stern  
▪ John Swarbrick  
▪ Amalia Nunez  
▪ Chris Reeh  

 
The Audit & Risk Committee 
met four times in the financial 
year and reported its activities 
to the Board.  
 
This Committee is tasked with 
overseeing compliance, risk 
and regulatory reports. It 
supervises the external and 
internal audit/controls and 
advises the Board on the 
effectiveness of risk measures. 
It is responsible for advising the 
Board on our compliance with 
the Regulator’s Economic 
Standards. 
 
Performance Committee  
▪ Hala Osman 
▪ Ian Golding  
▪ Palmer Hestley 
▪ Mary O’Reardon 
▪ Brett Seath (resigned July 

2023) 
 

The Performance Committee 
met four times during the year 
as well as some deep-dive 
sessions. It has specific 
delegated advisory 
responsibilities relating to all 
operational service delivery.  
 
The purpose of the 
Performance Committee is to 
oversee, on behalf of the 
Board, a forward-looking 
programme of consistent 
service design in respect of our 
key strategic services. This 
includes ensuring that the 
services to customers and its 
engagement with stakeholders 
and partners enable the 
achievement of the strategic 
vision, objectives and goals and 

deliver improved customer 
outcomes. 
 
The Committee is responsible 
for advising the Board on our 
compliance with the Regulator’s 
Consumer and Rent Standard 
as well as operational 
requirements set out by CQC 
and Ofsted. 

 
Development and Assets 
Committee  
▪ Richard Oliver  
▪ Bola Oladimeji (resigned 

October 2023) 
 
The Development & Assets 
Committee met four times in 
the financial year and reported 
its activities to the Board. 
 
This Committee is concerned 
with new property development 
and existing asset 
management, including health 
& safety assurance. It is 
responsible for compliance with 
the Regulator of Social 
Housing’s Homes Standard. 
 
People and Governance 
Committee 
▪ Zahra Shahib  

 
The People & Governance 
Committee met four times in 
the financial year and reported 
its activities to the Board. 
 
This Committee is responsible 
for overseeing the governance 
strategy as well as supporting 
the recruitment, appraisals and 
board & committee 
effectiveness. The Committee 
also deals with matters relating 
to Executive Team recruitment 
and remuneration. 
 
Executive Team 
The Trustees delegate the day-
to-day responsibility for running 
the Charity to the Chief 
Executive Officer. The 
Executive Team consists of: 
 

▪ Chief Executive Officer; 
▪ Group Director of Finance 

and Deputy CEO; 
▪ Group Director of People & 

Culture;  
▪ Group Director of 

Operations; and  
▪ Group Director of Property & 

Places.  
 
The Executive Team meets 
twice a month other than in 
August. Meetings are a mixture 
of in person at a local site or via 
MS Teams.   
 
All Executive Team members 
are invited to attend all Board 
meetings. Each Executive has 
a nominated Committee Chair 
that they work closely with to 
help improve management’s 
accountability and transparency 
to governance.  
 
To help with our succession 
planning, Heads of Service are 
also invited to attend 
Committees and Board where 
required. 
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Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities 
 
The Trustees are responsible 
for preparing the strategic 
report, annual report and the 
financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.  
 
Company law and social 
housing legislation requires the 
Trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial 
year in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards 
and applicable law). Under 
company law the Trustees must 
not approve the financial 
statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the group and 
association and of surplus or 
deficit of the group and 
association for that period. 
 
In preparing these financial 
statements, the Trustees are 
required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting 
policies and then apply them 
consistently; 

 

• make judgements and 
accounting estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; 

 

• state whether applicable UK 
Accounting Standards have 
been followed and the 
Statement of Recommended 
Practice: Accounting by 
registered providers of social 
housing 2018, subject to any 
material departures 
disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and 

 

• prepare the financial 
statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume 
that the charitable company 
will continue in business. 

 

The Board are responsible for 
keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the group 
and association’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the group 
and association and enable 
them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006, 
the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the Accounting 
Direction or Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 
2019. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the association 
and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Board members are 
responsible for ensuring that 
the report of the Board is 
prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: 
Accounting by registered social 
housing providers 2018. 
 
Financial statements are 
published on the group’s 
website in accordance with 
legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements, which 
may vary from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. The 
maintenance and integrity of 
the group’s website is the 
responsibility of the Board. The 
Board responsibility also 
extends to the ongoing integrity 
of the financial statements 
contained therein. 
 

Statement of Internal Controls 
 
The YMCA St Paul’s Group’s 
Board has overall responsibility 
for establishing and maintaining 
the Group’s system of internal 
control and for reviewing its 

effectiveness. 
 
The Board recognises that no 
system of internal control can 
provide absolute assurance 
against financial misstatement 
or loss or eliminate all risk. The 
system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk and to 
provide reasonable assurance 
that key business objectives 
and expected outcomes will be 
achieved. It also exists to give 
reasonable assurance about 
the preparation and reliability of 
financial and operational 
information and the 
safeguarding of the Group’s 
assets and interests. 
 
The Chief Executive/Group 
Finance Director presents a 
detailed report to the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Board 
each year on Internal Controls 
Assurance. As a result of the 
consideration of this report the 
Board is prepared to make this 
statement. 
 
The Board confirms that there 
is an on-going process for 
identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks 
faced by the Charity and a 
robust and prudent business 
planning, risk and control 
framework is in place. This 
approach has operated 
throughout the year under 
review up to and including the 
date of approval of the annual 
report and financial statements. 
 
Some of the key elements of 
the control process that the 
Board has established for the 
Group are as follows: 
 

• The incorporation of key 
risks into a risk map with the 
Board considering significant 
risks as part of the decision-
making process. 
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• The adoption of a business 
plan with a financial plan 
and the modelling and 
evaluation of long-term 
financial scenarios. 
 

• The periodic review and 
approval of detailed 
Standing Orders, 
Governance Framework and 
Financial Regulations and 
documentation of policies 
and procedures for all key 
operational areas. 

 

• The operation of an 
outsourced internal audit 
function, reporting directly to 
the Audit and Risk 
Committee, which follows a 
needs and risk based plan. 
The implementation of 
recommendations is 
monitored by the Audit and 
Risk Committee. 

 

• The formal appraisal by the 
Board of new business 
opportunities including 
significant new schemes and 
a delegated framework for 
investment decisions. 

 

• The use of Corporate 
Services Teams to seek 
continuous improvement 
and regularly audit 
compliance with agreed 
policies and procedures. 

 

• The operation of a 
comprehensive budgeting 
system and the regular 
review of financial and 
operational performance, 
including key indicators. 

 

 
The Charity has in place Anti-
Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policies 
in force aimed at tackling fraud, 
corruption, theft and breaches 
of regulations. 
 
There are whistleblowing and 
disciplinary policies and 
procedures in place for the 
Charity which link into the Code 
of Conduct, Financial 
Regulations and Anti-Bribery 
Policies. There is a Fraud 
Response Plan which is aimed 
at ensuring the Charity 
responds promptly to fraud or 
fraud allegations and can 
recover its assets where 
relevant. The Charity has a 
fraud risk assessment to aid 
prevention and mitigation 
activities. 
 
There is a Fraud Register, 
which is reviewed at each Audit 
and Risk Committee meeting. 
 
Aside from the In-Depth 
Assessment review set out 
above, the Board confirms that 
there have been no regulatory 
concerns which have led the 
Regulator of Social Housing to 
intervene in the affairs of the 
Charity, neither are there 
significant problems in relation 
to failures of internal controls 
which require disclosure in the 
financial statements.  
 
The Board has reviewed the 
Charity’s compliance with the 
Regulator’s Governance and 
Financial Viability Standard and 

are satisfied the Charity meets 
the requirements. 
AUDITORS AND AGM 
 

At the date of this report, each 
Board member confirms the 
following: 
 

• so far as each Board 
member is aware, there is 
no relevant information 
needed by the Charity’s 
auditors in connection with 
preparing their report of 
which the Charity’s auditors 
are unaware; and 
 

• each Board member has 
taken all of the steps that 
they ought to have taken as 
a Board member in order to 
make themselves aware of 
any information needed by 
the Charity's auditors in 
connection with preparing 
their report and to establish 
that the Charity’s auditors 
are aware of that 
information.  

 
The Charity’s Annual General 
Meeting will take place on 16 
November 2024. 
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INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 

 

 

 
Opinion on the financial 
statements 
 
We have audited the financial 
statements of YMCA St Paul’s 
Group (the ‘Charity’) and its 
subsidiaries (together ‘the 
Group’) for the year ended 31st  
March 2024, which comprise 
the Consolidated and Charity 
Statements of Comprehensive 
Income, the Consolidated and 
Charity Statements of Financial 
Position, the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, 
Consolidated and Charity 
Statement of Changes in 
Reserves and notes to the 
financial statements, including 
a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the financial 
statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Group’s and 
the Charity’s affairs as at 31 

March 2024 and of the 
Group’s and of the Charity’s 
surplus for the year then 
ended; 

 

• have been properly 
prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

 

• have been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006, the 
Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for 
Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2022. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our 
report. We are independent of 
the Charity in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going 
concern 
 

In auditing the financial 
statements, we have concluded 
that the Board’s use of the 
going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of 
the financial statements is 
appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have 
performed, we have not 
identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s 
and of the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for 
a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for 
issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the 
responsibilities of the Board 
members with respect to going 
concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report.
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Other information 
 
The other information 
comprises the information 
included in the Report and 
Financial Statements, other 
than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The Board members 
are responsible for the other 
information contained within the 
annual report. Our opinion on 
the financial statements does 
not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other 
information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we 
identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether 
this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, 
based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that 
there is a material 
misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 
 
Other Companies Act 2006 
reporting  
 
In our opinion, based on the 
work undertaken in the course 
of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the 
Strategic Report within the 
Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the 

financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with 
the financial statements; and 

 

• the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report have been 
prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal 
requirements.  

 
Matters on which we are 
required to report by 
exception 
 
In light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the Charity 
and its environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we 
have not identified material 
misstatements in the Strategic 
Report or the Directors’ Report. 
We have nothing to report in 
respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:  
 

• adequate accounting 
records have not been kept, 
or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been 
received from branches not 
visited by us; or  

 

• the financial statements are 
not in agreement with the 
accounting records and 
returns; or  

 

• certain disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not 
made; or  

 

• we have not received all the 
information and 
explanations we require for 
our audit; or 

 

• the directors were not 
entitled to prepare the 
financial statements in 
accordance with the small 
companies regime take 
advantage of the small 
companies’ exemption in 
preparing the Directors’ 
Report and from the 

requirement to prepare a 
Strategic Report. 

 
Responsibilities of the Board 
 
As explained more fully in the 
Statement of the Board’s 
responsibilities set out on page 
36, the Board is responsible for 
the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Board 
determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are 
free from material 
misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial 
statements, the Board is 
responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Charity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going 
concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting 
unless the Board either intends 
to liquidate the Group or the 
Charity or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial 
statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is 
not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, 
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individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. A further 
description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is 
located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsrespons
ibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Extent to which the audit was 
capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, 
are instances of non-
compliance with laws and 
regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, 
to detect material 
misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. 
Based on our understanding of 
the Charity and its industry and 
in identifying and addressing 
the risks of material 
misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud, 
our procedures included the 
following: 
 
We obtained an understanding 
of the legal and regulatory 
frameworks within which the 
Charity operates, focusing on 
those laws and regulations that 
have a direct effect on the 
determination of material 
amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements such as 
the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 (and related 
Directions and regulations), the 
Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and other laws and 
regulations applicable to a 
registered social housing 
provider in England together 
with the Housing SORP. We 
assessed the required 

compliance with these laws and 
regulations as part of our audit 
procedures on the related 
financial statement items. 
 
We evaluated management’s 
incentives and opportunities for 
fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements (including 
the risk of override of controls) 
and determined that the 
principal risks were related to 
posting inappropriate journal 
entries to manipulate financial 
results and management bias 
in accounting estimates. 
 
The audit procedures to 
address the risks identified 
included:  
 

• Discussions with 
management, including 
consideration of known or 
suspected instances of non-
compliance with laws and 
regulations and fraud; 

 

• Challenging assumptions 
made by management in 
their significant accounting 
estimates; 

 

• Identifying and testing 
journal entries; 

 

• Reviewing minutes of 
meetings of those charged 
with governance, reviewing 
internal audit reports and 
reviewing correspondence 
with HMRC and the 
Regulator of Social Housing 
to identify any actual or 
potential frauds or any 
potential weaknesses in 
internal control which could 
result in fraud susceptibility. 

 
Our audit procedures were 
designed to respond to risks of 
material misstatement in the 
financial statements, 
recognising that the risk of not 
detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve 

deliberate concealment by, for 
example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through 
collusion.  
 
There are inherent limitations in 
the audit procedures performed 
and the further removed non-
compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events 
and transactions reflected in 
the financial statements, the 
less likely we are to become 
aware of it. 
 
A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is 
located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditors 
responsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
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Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to 
the Company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so 

that we might state to the 
Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s 
members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 
 

 

 
 
Hugh Swainson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor 
130 Wood Street 
London 
EC2V 6DL 
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Following a decision of the Trustee Board, the trade and assets of YMCA West London, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
YMCA St Paul’s Group, were transferred into YMCA St Paul’s Group on 31 March 2023 for no consideration. The entity 
(“YSPG”) Statement of Comprehensive Income shows the results of the merged entity for 2024, whereas the prior year 
result (2023) does not incorporate the results of YMCA West London. The Group results are not impacted by the transfer 
of YMCA West London. Refer to note 28 for more details. 
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1. Legal Status 

YMCA St Paul’s Group is a company limited by guarantee, a registered social housing provider (No. LH4078) 
and registered charity (No. 1041923). The Company is the ultimate parent of the Group. The details of all 
entities within the Group are outlined in the Trustees’ report on page 5. 

 
2. Accounting policies 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable law and UK accounting standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) which for YMCA St Paul’s Group includes FRS 102 
"the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland", the 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) for Registered Social Housing Providers 2018, "Accounting by 
registered social housing providers" 2018, the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing from April 2019 and the Companies Act 2006.  

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historic cost convention.  

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. 
 
Parent / subsidiary disclosure exemptions 

ln preparing the consolidated financial statements of the parent company, advantage has been taken of the 
following disclosure exemptions available in FRS 102:  

• only one reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the period has 
been presented as the reconciliations for the Group and the parent would be identical; 

 

• no cash flow statement has been presented for the parent company;  
 

• disclosures in respect of the parent company's financial instruments have not been presented as equivalent 
disclosures have been provided in respect of the Group as a whole; and 

 

• no disclosure has been given for the aggregate remuneration of the key management personnel of the 
parent company as their remuneration is included in the totals for the Group as a whole. 

The following principal accounting policies have been applied: 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements present the results of YMCA St Paul’s Group registered provider of 
social housing and its subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity ("the Group"). All financial statements are 
made up to 31 March 2024. 

West London YMCA was originally brought into the Group in April 2018, with the entity being a fully owned 
subsidiary of YMCA St Paul’s Group. The original amalgamation was accounted for as an acquisition; as such, 
the Group consolidated accounted incorporate the acquisition of West London YMCA at fair value. Following a 
decision of the Trustee Board, the trade and assets of West London YMCA were merged with the parent 
company, YMCA St Paul’s Group, on 31 March 2023 for no consideration. In accordance with FRS 102, 
merger accounting was applied to this business combination, with the assets of West London YMCA 
transferred into YMCA St Paul’s Group on 31 March 2023 at book value. The transaction had no impact on the 
Group consolidated accounts, which continue to incorporate West London YMCA at fair value from the date of 
the original amalgamation. The merger on 31 March 2023 is reflected in the entity accounts (shown as “YSPG” 
throughout these accounts), with the closing balance sheet of West London YMCA as at 31 March 2023 
incorporated into the entity balance sheet and the gain arising from the transfer of the assets shown as an 
increase in reserves.  Further detail on the value of the assets transferred is provided in Note 27. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Going concern  

The Group’s business activities, its current financial position and factors likely to affect its future development 
are set out within the Strategic Report. The Group has in place long-term borrowing facilities which provide 
adequate resources to finance committed reinvestment and development programmes, along with the Group’s 
day to day operations. The Group also has a long-term business plan which shows that it is able to service 
debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with lenders’ covenants.  

The Charity’s business plan has been stress tested and the Board has considered the potential impacts from 
numerous single-variant and two multi-variant adverse scenarios. The Board reviewed and debated the 
detailed stress testing at its meeting in May 2024. The outcome of stress tests performed focused on liquidity, 
security and covenant compliance as a result of adjusting the key inputs. 

Options for mitigation to ensure the business can continue in the short and longer term have also been 
reviewed. Mitigations exist for all scenarios as a precaution, to ensure compliance with all covenant and 
regulatory requirements. 
 
The resulting worst-case scenario of the stress testing exercise, a multi-variant scenario in which a number of  
adverse impacts crystallise simultaneously, indicates a covenant breach could occur in 2024-25 (the tightest 
year in the plan) and 2025-26, if mitigating actions were not taken. Mitigating actions showed that the Charity 
would be able to withstand these external pressures. 
 
Periodic updates to the financial business plan, management accounts forecasts and key performance 
indicator reporting enables continuous monitoring of the business. YMCA St Paul’s Group maintains higher 
liquidity levels than the funding requirement identified in its updated business plan; the Board considers this to 
be prudent in the current uncertain economic environment. 

The Group continues to consider in its business plan, and forecasts the potential impact of, legislation 
changes and potential impacts in the economic and operating environment, in particular inflation. The Board 
expects housing operations to continue to be resilient and withstand a range of stresses on the business. The 
Board consider that the Charity has sufficient reserves to weather any short-term impact on the income of the 
Charity as a result of operational and economic factors.  

After making enquiries, the Board has a reasonable expectation that the overall Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months 
after the date on which the report and financial statements are signed. For this reason, it continues to adopt 
the going concern basis in the financial statements. No material uncertainties exist. 

 
Turnover 

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group generates the 
following material income streams: 
 

• Rent and service charges: rental and service charge income receivable (after deducting lost rent and 
service charges from void properties available for letting) is recognised from the point when properties under 
development reach practical completion and are formally let; 

 

• Supporting people services: income is recognised in the period to which it relates in accordance with 
underlying service contracts;  

 

• Membership subscriptions and programme activities from our Health & Wellbeing and Children, 
Youth & Family divisions: are recognised in the period to which they relate; 

 

• Grant Income: revenue income is recognised in the period to which it relates. Grants for capital projects 
are recognised as received and carried forward as restricted funds;  
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Turnover (continued) 

• Donations: are accounted for when received; and 
 

• Other income: other income is recognised as receivable on the delivery of services provided. 
 

Current and deferred taxation  
 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as 
other comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the 
countries where the company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Deferred balances are 
recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date, 
except:  
 

• the recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered 
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits;  

 

• any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances 
have been met; and  

 

• where timing differences relate to interests in subsidiaries, associates, branches and joint ventures and the 
Group can control their reversal and such reversal is not considered probable in the foreseeable future.  

 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date.  
 
Value Added Tax  
 
The Group charges Value Added Tax (VAT) on some of its income and is able to recover part of the VAT it 
incurs on expenditure. The financial statements include VAT to the extent that it is suffered by the Group and 
not recoverable from HM Revenue and Customs. Recoverable VAT arises from partially exempt activities and  
is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 
Pension costs  

 
The Group participates in the multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for employees of YMCAs in 
England, Scotland and Wales, which was closed to new members and accruals on 30 April 2007. Due to 
insufficient information, the plan's actuary has advised that it is not possible to separately identify the assets 
and liabilities relating to YMCA St Paul’s Group for the purposes of FRS 102 disclosure.  
 
As described in note 23, YMCA St Paul’s Group has a contractual obligation to make pension deficit 
contribution payments of £180k per annum over the period to April 2027 (2023: £221k per annum to April 
2029), accordingly this is shown as a liability in these accounts. In addition, YMCA St Paul’s Group is required 
to contribute £57k per annum (2023: £52k per annum) to the operating expenses of the Pension Plan and 
these costs are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as made.  

 
Holiday pay accrual 

 
A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which has accrued at the 
balance sheet date and is carried forward to future periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary 
cost of the future holiday entitlement and accrued at the balance sheet date.  
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
Termination benefits 
 
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without 
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment. 

 
Housing properties 

 
Housing properties constructed or acquired (including land) on the open market are stated at cost less 
depreciation and impairment (where applicable).  
 
The cost of housing land and property includes the cost of acquiring land and buildings, development costs, 
interest capitalised during the development period, directly attributable administration costs and expenditure 
incurred in respect of improvements and replacements of major components of existing properties.  
 
Where housing properties are in the course of construction, finance costs are only capitalised where 
construction is on-going and has not been interrupted or terminated. Where a development project is deemed 
to be relatively inactive, capitalisation of interest is ceased until the development becomes active again. 
 
The Group adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item 
when that cost is incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental future benefits to the 
Group. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  
 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the period in which 
they are incurred. 

 
Social Housing Grant used to finance buildings is repayable under certain circumstances, primarily following 
the sale of such property. The amount, which would be repayable is the amount by which any sale proceeds 
exceed all other liabilities arising from the release of any loan charges on the property. 
 
Housing properties in the course of construction, are included in Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE) and 
held at cost less any impairment, and are transferred to completed properties when ready for letting.  
 
Depreciation of housing property 

 
Social housing assets, whether freehold or long leasehold, are split, for the purposes of depreciation 
between land, structure and other major components that are expected to require replacement over time with 
substantially different economic lives. 
 
Land is not depreciated on account of its indefinite useful economic life. With the exception of land, social 
housing assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis, following the year of acquisition, according to their 
useful economic life or the life of the lease in the case of long leasehold assets, if this is shorter. The major 
components and useful economic lives range as follows: 

 

Component 
Useful 
Economic Life 

Structure 100 years 

Modular structure 50 years 

Roofs 60 years 

Bathrooms 30 years 

Kitchens 20 years 

Lifts 30 years 

Windows & doors 30 years 

Heating system 30 years 

Electrics 25 years 

Energy improvements 20 years 

Boilers 15 years  

Short – term housing 10 years 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

Other tangible fixed assets 
 

Other tangible fixed assets are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
 
The Group capitalise costs incurred as a result of staff spending time on capital projects, provided that time 
can be linked to bringing a specific, separately identifiable asset into working condition, or substantially 
enhancing the working life of an existing asset. 
 
Intangible fixed assets – computer software 
 
Intangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

 
Depreciation of other than social housing fixed assets 

 
Other than social housing assets, depreciation on other assets is charged to allocate the cost, less estimated 
residual value, of each asset over its anticipated useful life using the straight-line method, as follows: 

 

Asset Type 
Useful 
Economic Life 

Intangible assets: IT software 4 years 

Other property - short 
leasehold buildings 

Life of the lease 

Other Furniture and equipment 5-7 years 

Office fittings and equipment  7 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years 

Computer equipment  4 years 

Other Fixtures & Fittings 10-20 years 

 
  

Housing Capital Grants 
 

Grants received are accounted for using the accrual model. Grants are carried as deferred income in the 
balance sheet and released to the income and expenditure account on a systematic basis over the useful 
economic lives of the asset for which it was received. Where grants are restricted to a specified future expiry 
date the grant is amortised in equal instalments, so it is fully amortised by the expiry date. Grants for mixed  
asset types are amortised using the weighted average depreciation rate of 3.33%. This is based on the rates 
used in component accounting. Grant amortisation commences upon on completion of the project. 

 
Stocks 
 
Stocks are recognised at cost and then subsequently valued at the lower of cost and their recoverable 
amount. 

 
Debtors and creditors  

 
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are recorded initially 
at transaction price less attributable transaction costs. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
income statement in other operating expenses.  

 
Recoverable amount of rental and other trade receivables  

 
The Group estimates the recoverable value of rental and other receivables and impairs the debtor by 
appropriate amounts.  
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities and equity 
 

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s contractual 
obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents in the Group’s Consolidated Balance Sheet consists of cash at bank, in hand, 
deposits, and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less. 

 
Leased assets: Lessee 

 
For the leases treated as operating leases their annual rentals are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. 

 
Provision for liabilities 

 
The Group would recognise provisions for liabilities of any uncertain timing or amounts. Provisions are  
measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material the amount expected to be required to settle the 
obligation is recognised at the present value using a discount rate. The unwinding of the discount is 
recognised as a finance cost in income and expenditure in the period it arises.  
 
Reserves  

 
Income received, and expenditure incurred, for restricted purposes is separately accounted for within 
restricted funds.  

 
3. Judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
In preparing these financial statements, the key judgements have been made in respect of the following:  
 
Whether there are indicators of impairment of the Group’s tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill. 
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability and expected future 
financial performance of the asset and where it is a component of a larger cash-generating unit, the viability 
and expected future performance of that unit. The Board have considered the measurement basis to 
determine the recoverable amount of assets where there are indicators of impairment based on existing use 
value for social housing or depreciated replacement cost. The Board have also considered impairment based 
on their assumptions to define cash or asset generating units. 
 
Whether leases entered into by the Group either as a lessor or a lessee are operating leases or finance 
leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risk and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis. 

 
4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty In preparing these financial statements  

 
The key sources of estimation uncertainty are:  

 
Tangible fixed assets 

 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives, taking into account residual values, where 
appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending 
on a number of factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as the condition of the asset and its future 
income generating potential are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as 
future market conditions, the remaining life of the asset, technological advances and projected disposal 
values.  
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4.  Key sources of estimation uncertainty In preparing these financial statements (continued) 
 

Tangible fixed assets (continued) 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods for assets are adjusted prospectively if appropriate, 
if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date. 

 
For housing property assets, the assets are broken down into components based on management’s 
assessment of the properties. Individual useful economic lives are assigned to these components.  

 
Rental and other trade receivables (debtors) 

 
The estimate for receivables relates to the recoverability of the balances outstanding at year end. A review is 
performed based on age and where practical, on an individual debtor basis to consider whether each debt is  
recoverable (see note 17).  

 
Defined benefit scheme deficit recovery plan  

 
Estimations in relation to financial and actuarial assumptions are based upon best estimates derived from the 
Group’s policies and practices and confirmed with actuaries where these are beyond management expertise. 
Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact the defined benefit obligation amount and the annual 
defined benefit expenses.  

 
Other areas of estimation uncertainty include: 
 
Project or scheme costs which are capitalised on the basis that the scheme will be completed and the costs 
for each unit upon completion is apportioned on square footage or area of each unit.  
 
Should a project or scheme become non-feasible the costs will be written off to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as abortive costs. 
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5. Income and expenditure from social housing lettings  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Notes to the financial statements       
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued)     YMCA St Paul’s Group 

 

54 
 

6. Particulars of turnover, operating costs and operating surplus    
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7. Other activities: particulars of turnover from charitable activities  
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8. Units of housing stock 
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9.  Directors’ emoluments 
 

No member of the Board received any remuneration from the Group (2023: £nil). Expenses totalling £27 were 
reimbursed to Board members (2023: £nil). 

 
 

10. Employee information 
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11. Directors’ and executives’ remuneration 
          

      
                                                                                  

 

12. Loss on disposal of fixed assets 
 

 
 

13. Interest payable and similar charges 
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14. Operating surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 
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15. Tangible fixed assets 
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15. Tangible fixed assets (continued) 
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16. Taxation 
 
YMCA St Paul’s Group is exempt from Corporation Tax on its charitable activities. The trading company had no 
Corporation Tax for the year.  

 
 
17. Debtors 
 

 
 

18. Current asset investments 
 

 
 

19. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
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20. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the financial statements       
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued)     YMCA St Paul’s Group 

 

64 
 

 

21. Net debt 
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22. Operating lease commitments 
 

   
 

 

23. Pension deficit liability 
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24. Pensions 
 

The Group operates a number of pension schemes: 
 
Defined benefit pension scheme 
 
YMCA St Paul’s Group participated in a contributory pension plan providing defined benefits based on final 
pensionable pay for employees of YMCAs in England, Scotland and Wales. The assets of the YMCA Pension Plan 
are held separately from those of YMCA St Paul’s Group and at the year-end these were in the Mercer Dynamic 
De-risking Solution, 65% matching portfolio and 35% in the growth portfolio and Schroder (property units only). 
 
The most recent completed three-year valuation was as at 1 May 2023. The assumptions used which have the 
most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those relating to the assumed rates of return on assets  of 
4.56%, the increase in pensions in payment of 3.18% (for RPI capped at 5% p.a.), and the average life expectancy 
from normal retirement age (of 65) for a current male pensioner of 21.5 years, female 24.0 years, and 23.1 years 
for a male pensioner, female 25.7 years, retiring in 20 years’ time. The result of the valuation showed that the 
actuarial value of the assets was £103.1m, which represented 92% of the benefits that had accrued to members. 
 
The Pension Plan was closed to new members and future service accrual with effect from 30 April 2007. With the 
removal of the salary linkage for benefits all employed deferred members became deferred members as from 1 
May 2011. 
 
The valuation prepared as at 1 May 2023 showed that the YMCA Pension Plan had a deficit of £9.1m. YMCA St 
Paul’s Group has been advised that it will need to make monthly contributions of £15k (2023: £18k) from 1 May 
2024. This amount is based on the current actuarial assumptions (as outlined above) and may vary in the future as 
a result of actual performance of the Pension Plan. Agreed future deficit contributions have been discounted using 
a rate of 5.5% (2023: 5.5%). The current recovery period is 3 years commencing 1st May 2024. 

 
Defined contribution pension scheme 
 
YMCA St Paul’s Group also operates a defined contribution pension scheme for the majority of its employees. The 
assets of this scheme are also held separately from those of the company and contributions are charged to the 
income and expenditure as they fall due. The combined pension charge of both schemes is shown in note 10. 

 
 

25. Deferred capital grant 
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26. Capital commitments 
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27. Related party transactions  
 

 
 

28. Gain on transfer of assets from subsidiary 
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29. Legal status 
 

YMCA St Paul’s Group is a company limited by guarantee (company number 02971930), a registered charity 
(number 1041923) and is registered with the Regulator of Social Housing as a social housing provider (number 
LH4078). 
 


